
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Thursday, 18 January 2018 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Anna Poole (Tel. 0116 305 0381) 

Email: anna.poole@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. D. Slater CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. I. E. G. Bentley CC 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 

Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Dr. P. Bremner CC 

 

Mr. J. G. Coxon CC 
Mr. Max Hunt CC 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC 
Mr J. Poland CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

Item   Report by   
 
 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 
2017 and 7 December 2017.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 16) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 to 
2021/22.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport and 
Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 17 - 42) 

9.  
  

Community Bus Partnership Review.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 43 - 102) 

10.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on Thursday 1 
March 2018 at 2pm.  
 

 

11.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
Members serving on Overview and Scrutiny have a key role in providing constructive yet robust 
challenge to proposals put forward by the Cabinet and Officers. One of the most important skills is the 
ability to extract information by means of questions so that it can help inform comments and 
recommendations from Overview and Scrutiny bodies. 
 
Members clearly cannot be expected to be experts in every topic under scrutiny and nor is there an 
expectation that they so be. Asking questions of ‘experts’ can be difficult and intimidating but often 
posing questions from a lay perspective would allow members to obtain a better perspective and 
understanding of the issue at hand. 
 
Set out below are some key questions members may consider asking when considering reports on 
particular issues. The list of questions is not intended as a comprehensive list but as a general guide. 
Depending on the issue under consideration there may be specific questions members may wish to 
ask.  
 
Key Questions: 
 

 Why are we doing this? 

 Why do we have to offer this service? 

 How does this fit in with the Council’s priorities? 

 Which of our key partners are involved? Do they share the objectives and is the service to be 
joined up? 

 Who is providing this service and why have we chosen this approach? What other options were 
considered and why were these discarded? 

 Who has been consulted and what has the response been? How, if at all, have their views been 
taken into account in this proposal? 

 
If it is a new service: 
 

 Who are the main beneficiaries of the service? (could be a particular group or an area) 

 What difference will providing this service make to them – What will be different and how will we 
know if we have succeeded? 

 How much will it cost and how is it to be funded? 

 What are the risks to the successful delivery of the service? 
 
If it is a reduction in an existing service: 
 

 Which groups are affected? Is the impact greater on any particular group and, if so, which group 
and what plans do you have to help mitigate the impact? 

 When are the proposals to be implemented and do you have any transitional arrangements for 
those who will no longer receive the service? 

 What savings do you expect to generate and what was expected in the budget? Are there any 
redundancies? 

 What are the risks of not delivering as intended? If this happens, what contingency measures have 
you in place?  

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held at County Hall, Glenfield on Wednesday, 22 November 2017.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. D. Slater CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. I. E. G. Bentley CC 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Dr. P. Bremner CC 
 

Mr. J. G. Coxon CC 
Mr. Max Hunt CC 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC 
Mr J. Poland CC 
 

 
 
In attendance. 
 
Mr. B. Pain CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Highways, Strategic Transportation and 
Waste. 
Mrs. P. Posnett CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Environment and Passenger Transport. 
Mrs. C. Radford, Cabinet Support Member.  
 

26. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2017 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed.  
 

27. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

28. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

29. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

30. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mr. B. Pain CC declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in Item 8 on the agenda 
‘Consultation on Proposed Changes to the Special Educational Needs and Mainstream 
Home to School Transport Policies’ as a Director of a taxi company.  
 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

31. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

32. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.  
 
The Committee considered a briefing note, tabled at the meeting, by the Director of 
Environment and Transport which responded to the petition presented by Mr. G. A 
Boulter CC containing 1,028 signatures in the following terms:  
 
"We the undersigned oppose plans by the Conservative-run County Council to introduce 
on-street parking charges." 
 
A copy of the briefing note is filed with these minutes. 
 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC, advised the Committee of the adverse impact on local communities 
should on-street parking charges be introduced. He highlighted the negative impact on 
local businesses with a possible reduction in the level of customers and also on 
residents, caused by people parking on smaller residential streets in an effort to avoid 
paying any on-street parking charges.  
 
In supporting the petition, Mr. D. Bill CC also highlighted the potential adverse impact on 
shop keepers and stressed the need for a substantial study to be undertaken in 
considering the proposals.  
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised:- 
 

i) A feasibility study into the options for on-street parking charges was currently 
being undertaken to understand whether such a scheme could be introduced 
across Leicestershire as well as the scope for any such scheme. This would be 
completed in early Summer 2018; 

 
ii) Should Members decide to proceed with such a policy, the Environment and 

Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee would be consulted on the proposals 
and its comments would be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration; the petition 
now submitted would be also taken into consideration; 

 
iii) Members were assured that, should proposals be developed, full consideration 

would be given to any secondary impacts on the wider community, for example on 
neighbouring residential areas.  

 
RESOLVED:- 

 
a. That the petition be received;  

 
b. That the briefing note tabled at the meeting be noted;  

 
c. That it be noted that feasibility studies were still underway and that the 

Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee would be 
consulted prior to any proposal to introduce on-street parking charges.  

 
 

6



 
 

 

33. Consultation on Proposed Changes to the Special Educational Needs and Mainstream 
Home to School Transport Policies.  
 
Mr. B. Pain CC, having declared a disclosable pecuniary interest, left the meeting during 
consideration of this item.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which 
provided details of the consultation on proposed changes to the Special Educational 
Needs (SEN) and mainstream home to school transport policies. A copy of the report, 
marked Agenda Item 8’, is filed with these minutes.  
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting, Mrs Annie Bannister, who attended to speak on 
this item.  
 
Mrs Bannister informed Members of the potential adverse impact of the proposals on a 
child or young person’s ability to attend education or college and the financial impact on 
the family in funding the travel provision, should the proposals be agreed. Additionally, 
the social benefit to the child or young person in attending college was highlighted, and to 
the wider family. Members were informed that, in many instances, the travel to college 
was a long journey and funding from Personal Transport Budgets would not be sufficient 
to cover this. A copy of Mrs Bannister’s statement is filed with these minutes.  
 
The Committee then discussed the three options set out in the report:- 
 
Option 1 – Saving £146,000 
 
This proposal would remove the 100% discount from low income families for non-
compulsory school age children travelling to SEN nurseries and post-16 mainstream and 
SEN. 
 
The consultation was seeking views on the appropriate level of contribution which was 
currently, where there was no low income exemption, £660 per year. The Director further 
advised that practice varied across Councils with Sheffield offering no reduction, Essex 
offering a 50% reduction and Derbyshire offering a £20 reduction. 
 
Whilst noting that this was a non-statutory service, members were concerned about the 
impact this would have on families and in particular those single parent families with 
siblings attending other schools. There was concern that the deletion of the subsidy might 
deter parents from taking their children to nursery thereby further disadvantaging their 
development and opportunities.  
 
With regard to post-16, given the distances that young people needed to travel to 
colleges, members were of the view that this would have a significant adverse impact on 
take-up of education provision. 
 
In view of this, the majority of members were not supportive of the proposed changes. 
 
Option 2 – Savings £773,000 
 
This option would remove traditional forms of transport and introduce a Personal 
Transport Budget (PTB) for each eligible child. 
 

7



 
 

 

The Director advised that a number of families had already chosen this option as it 
provided them with greater flexibility and at the same time reduced the cost of transport. 
The PTB varied from child to child and took account of mileage travelled, age, number of 
days attended and any particular circumstances. Whilst there were no restrictions placed 
on how the PTB was to be used, the Department would monitor attendance and liaise 
with the school if there was an issue.  
 
Some members expressed concern about the proposal and whether there was sufficient 
capacity in the private sector transport providers to meet demand arising from the 
introductions of PTBs and whether some parents were able to manage the budget and 
buy-in the services needed. 
 
A majority of the Committee was supportive of the proposal now put forward as it would 
provide greater flexibility and enable pupils to continue to access educational provision. 
 
Messrs Boulter, Bill and Hunt expressed reservations regarding this proposal. 
 
Option 3 – Savings £27,000 
 
To cease providing post 16 transport and provide a travel grant of up to £150 for those in 
isolated areas and on low income. 
 
The majority of members on the Committee were not supportive of the proposals. Their 
concerns related to the removal of the transport provision and the lack of frequent and 
timely alternative public transport provision across the County which would impact 
adversely on attendance. There was also a concern that the administrative cost of 
managing the transport grant scheme would further erode the projected saving. 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 

a. That the Cabinet be advised of the views now expressed on the three options 
presented;  

 
b. That the Director of Environment and Transport include the comments of the 

Committee in the report to the Cabinet on the outcome of consultation and on any 
changes proposed.  

 
34. Parking near Schools.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which 
provided details of the issues related to school parking and the measures available to the 
County Council to help manage them. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 9’, is 
filed with these minutes.  
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting Mr Peter Abraham, Chairperson of the Butt Lane 
Close Residents Association, who attended to speak on this item. 
 
Mr Abraham informed the Committee of the issues experienced in his community with 
school parking, the inconvenience caused to residents and the safety concerns. He 
presented three proposals for addressing the situation. A copy of Mr Abraham’s 
statement is filed with these minutes.  
 

8



 
 

 

The Chairman read out the following comments on behalf of Mr Mullaney CC, local 
Member, who was unable to attend the meeting: 
 
"Parking outside schools is a cause of problems for residents who live near many County 
schools. This is an ongoing problem. My constituent Peter Abraham has produced an 
excellent report which seeks to set out potential solutions to these ongoing problems. 
 
"I commend his report and request that when future reviews of school parking are 
undertaken County officers consider the proposals set out in Mr Abraham's report.  
 
"Parking around schools causes hassle and stress for many people who live near them 
and we should always be looking for new and innovative solutions to trying to solve these 
problems." 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were raised:- 
 

i) Paragraph 77 on page 133 was amended to read:  
 

“At its meeting on 15 September 2017, the Cabinet approved the release of 
£200,000 in 2017/18 and earmarked £300,000 in 2018/19 to better manage school 
parking concerns, through camera enforcement of school 'zig zag' markings. This 
includes preparatory work in 2017/18. This will fund the initial development of a 
pilot scheme, aimed at assessing the effectiveness of these measures in 
Leicestershire.” 

  
ii) When developing Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) consultation was undertaken, 

including with Members. A range of factors were also taken into account, including 
the provision of breakfast and after-school clubs. If the local community requested 
a change to a TRO already in place, funding would need to be found locally as 
such a change would be financially prohibitive to the County Council; 

 
iii) Regarding term-time only restrictions and parking, Members were informed that 

Department for Transport guidelines stated that signage should specify the dates 
of restrictions rather than refer to ‘term-time only’. The majority of the general 
public would be unaware of when terms started and ended and additionally, 
different Counties and schools had different term times;  
 

iv) The use of the camera enforcement car on school zig-zags would be piloted at 
some schools; participating schools would be chosen based on the scale of the 
parking problems experienced but could only be carried out if a traffic regulation 
order was in place. These sites are listed at Appendix B of the report. 

 
RESOLVED:- 
 

a. That the Director of Environment and Transport write to Mr Abrahams responding 
to the points raised in his presentation to the Committee; 
 

b. That the proposal to manage school parking concerns through camera 
enforcement of ‘zigzag’ markings be supported.  

 
 
 
 

9



 
 

 

35. Highways Authority Planning Process and Charging Review.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which 
advised of the review of the County Council’s Highways Development Management 
function. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 10’, is filed with these minutes.  
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised:- 
 

i) A sliding scale of proposed charges that would be introduced for the non-statutory 
functions was in place; it was not proposed to charge for householder applications; 

 
ii) It was recognised that customer expectations regarding speed of response and 

quality of service would increase once they paid for the service provided; 
 

iii) The introduction of the charging for pre-application advice had generally been 
welcomed by developers; it was expected that developers would seek advice 
earlier, so saving time and money within the full planning process. It was 
recognised that officers needed to be ready to meet demand; 

 
iv) Regarding the changes to Standing Advice, Members were assured that, as the 

County Council as Local Planning Authority was also the decision maker, the 
planning function was autonomous within the Council. The Department’s role was 
to advise developers of the information they needed to overcome implications on 
the highways network; 

 
v) The Committee was assured of the diligence of officers in providing advice to 

developers on County Council proposed developments; it was highlighted that 
there was a ‘firewall’ between the County Council’s Property function and the 
Highways Development Management Service and such applications were dealt 
with through the Property Service. The Committee recognised the professionalism 
of officers in giving advice and welcomed the introduction of the charging system; 

 
Mr. B. Pain CC asked that it be put on record that he supported the introduction of the 
charging process for non-statutory functions and the revisions to the Standing Advice.  
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
That the Cabinet be advised that this Committee supports the proposed new standing 
advice thresholds and the introduction of charging for advice provided to developers.  
 

36. Performance Report Quarter Two 2017/18.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which 
provided an update on departmental performance at the end of quarter 2 of 2017/18. A 
copy of the report marked “Agenda Item 11” is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i) Discussions were ongoing with Council staff in various locations about ways of 
increasing recycling rates; 

 

10



 
 

 

ii) The breakdown of the biomass boiler last winter has caused a reduction in 
performance in the indicator ‘Tonnes of Waste produced’; performance was 
expected to increase; 

 
iii) The reduction in road casualties data should be treated with some caution; officers 

were investigating with Police whether a change to Police recording practices was 
a contributory factor; 

 
iv) There was a clear evidence trail to show that there was no direct causal link 

between the turning off of street lighting during the hours of 12 midnight and 5am 
and crime levels. Requests to turn on the street lights would be considered, if 
received from the Police and for a temporary period only. Following review, the 
lighting would be returned to part night lighting only;  

 
RESOLVED:- 
 
That the update on Departmental performance at the end of Quarter 2 of 2017/18 be 
noted. 
 

37. Date of next meeting.  
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on Thursday 7 
December 2017 at 2pm. The meeting would be chaired by Mr Pearson CC.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.00  - 4.30 am CHAIRMAN 
22 November 2017 

 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held at County Hall, Glenfield on Thursday, 7 December 2017.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. D. Slater CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. I. E. G. Bentley CC 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Dr. P. Bremner CC 
Mr. J. G. Coxon CC 
 

Mr. Max Hunt CC 
Mr. D. Jennings CC 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
 

 
 
In attendance. 
 
Mr. B. Pain CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Highways, Strategic Transportation and 
Waste. 
 

38. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

39. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

40. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

41. Declarations of Interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Dr. P. Bremner CC declared a personal interest in Item 9 “Market Harborough Transport 
Study” as a County Councillor for Market Harborough West and Foxton.  
 
Mr. B. Pain CC declared a personal interest in Item 9 “Market Harborough Transport 
Study” as a Member of Market Harborough District Council.  
 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC declared a personal interest in Item 8 “Melton Mowbray Distributor 
Road” as a Member of Melton Borough Council.  
 
 

13



 
 

 

 

42. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

43. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

44. Environmental Performance Report 2016-17 and Greenhouse Gas Report 2016-17.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which 
provided details of the Council’s environmental performance and greenhouse gas 
emissions for 2016-17. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 7”, is filed with these 
minutes.  
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised:- 
 

i) Officers were seeking creative solutions, including working with partners and 
volunteers, to improve the quality of the Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSIs) 
as resources were not available to address the improvements needed; 

 
ii) There had been a 37% reduction in CO2 emissions from Leicestershire (under 

local authority influence) compared with the base line year; current performance 
now exceeded the target set for 2020/21 due to a variety of measures undertaken, 
including for example the LED street lighting replacement project and fleet 
rationalisation; 
 

iii) Regarding waste water discharges from passenger transport depots, members 
were informed that there were three depots that had been deemed non-compliant; 
one was to be closed soon and so no works were planned.  Of the remaining two, 
audits had been completed which showed that one was connected to a foul sewer, 
which would be addressed and the other was not connected to the sewer. Officers 
were currently exploring engineering options and related costings and agreed to 
inform the Committee of the timeframes required for the works once decisions had 
been made; 
 

iv) Regarding local wildlife sites which were in poor or declining condition, Members 
were informed that these would be assessed and prioritised according to the 
nature of the work required. Officers would explore a variety of options to complete 
the work required, including support from volunteers and the use of consultants for 
specialist work. The Committee asked that a report outlining the approach to the 
management of local wildlife sites once this is determined be presented at a future 
meeting.  
 

RESOLVED:- 
 
That the report on the County Council’s environmental performance and greenhouse gas 
emissions for 2016 – 17 be noted.  
 
 
 

14



 
 

 

 

45. Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Proposals.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
concerning the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Proposals. A copy of the report, marked 
“Agenda Item 8” is filed with these minutes.  
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised:- 
 
i) That the eastern route had been chosen rather than the western route as it was 

more economically viable being shorter and requiring less additional structures to 
be built along the route.  

 
ii) Extensive community engagement had been carried out throughout the initial 

planning stage; this would be ongoing throughout the project. To date, there has 
been good support for the proposed route;  

 
iii) The distributor road would be a single carriageway, at 7.3 meters wide, which was 

standard width for a distributor road. A dual carriageway construction was not 
appropriate at this time and another consideration was that this would pass 
through or adjacent to new housing developments. Members were assured that 
the distributor road would present a quick and efficient route around Melton 
Mowbray, due to the speed limits of up to 40 miles per hour on the northern stretch 
and 60 miles per hour on the eastern stretch. Plans for the distributor road would 
include cycle routes and footpaths;  

 
iv. The funding bid to the Department for Transport (DfT) included the northern and 

eastern section only. It was expected that construction of the southern section 
would be funded by developers as considerable development was planned for the 
southern side of Melton Mowbray as part of the Local Plan;  
 

v. Members were assured that modelling work for the distributor road had considered 
the wider impacts of the road construction on traffic in and around Melton. Results 
showed that without construction of the northern/eastern section of the road, more 
traffic would be directed onto Welby Road and other roads around the town. The 
Transport Strategy for Melton Mowbray also included consideration of the wider 
transport issues such as walking and cycling, junction improvements, public realm 
and public transport.  
 

vi. The total cost of the road was estimated at £74m. £55m would be sought from the 
DfT, and the remaining £19m would need to be funded from other sources. Most 
of the £19m would be recouped from developer contributions, but it was 
anticipated that there may be a shortfall. Officers of the County Council and Melton 
Borough Council had drafted an agreement which would enable any funding gap 
to be met by a combination of additional funding and revenue that the Borough 
Council would receive from housing developments and economic growth and 
County Council funds. This agreement was due to be considered by Melton 
Borough Council’s Policy, Finance and Administration Committee on 7 December 
2017. Members of the Committee commented that it was important that Melton 
Borough Council approved the funding agreement in order for the County Council 
to be in a position to submit a bid to the DfT.  

 
 
 

15



 
 

 

 

RESOLVED:-  
 
That the Cabinet be advised that the Committee supports the submission of a bid to the 
Department for Transport for funding of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road subject to 
the approval by Melton Borough Council of the proposed funding agreement.   
 

46. Market Harborough Transport Study.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
concerning the Market Harborough Transport Strategy. A copy of the report, marked 
“Agenda Item 9” is filed with these minutes.  
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised:- 
 

i) The Market Harborough Transport Study identified the key challenges faced by 
Market Harborough and the mitigation measures needed to address them. 
Developer contributions and potential Government funding would be required to 
fund the improvements; 
 

ii) Network Rail had been approached regarding the need to increase the clearance 
(height) of the rail bridges at Rockingham Road and Kettering Road. Network Rail 
had been unable to fund these works; it was hoped that they would see the 
benefits of supporting this case in any future works;  
 

iii) Members were informed that Highways England was responsible for informing 
residents of the closure of major routes, for example the A14.  Where it was an 
emergency, it was not possible to do efficiently notify residents in advance. The 
Department was working with Highways England to improve communication and 
emergency route planning.  

 
RESOLVED:- 
 
That the Cabinet be advised that the Committee supports the adoption of the Market 
Harborough Transport Study. 
 

47. Date of next meeting.  
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 18 January 2018 at 
2pm. 
 
 
 
 

 
2.00  - 3.05 pm CHAIRMAN 
07 December 2017 

 

16



  

 
ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

18 JANUARY 2018 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2018/19 – 2021/22 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT AND THE 
DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to:   

  
a) provide information on the proposed 2018/19 to 2021/22 Medium Term Financial 

Strategy (MTFS) as it relates to the Environment and Transport Department; and  
 

b) ask the Committee to consider any issues as part of the consultation process, and 
make any recommendations to the Scrutiny Commission and the Cabinet 
accordingly.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
 
2. The County Council agreed the current MTFS in February 2017.  This has been the 

subject of a comprehensive review and revision in light of the current economic 
circumstances.  The draft MTFS for 2018/19 – 2021/22 was considered by the Cabinet 
on 12 December 2017.  

  
Background 
 
3. The MTFS is set out in the report to Cabinet on 12 December 2017, a copy of which has 

been circulated to all members of the County Council. This report highlights the 
implications for the Environment and Transport Department. 
 

4. Reports such as this one are being presented to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. The views of this Committee will be reported to the Scrutiny Commission 
on 24 January 2018. The Cabinet will consider the results of the scrutiny process on the 
9 February 2018 before recommending an MTFS, including a budget and capital 
programme for 2018/19, to the County Council on the 21 February 2018.   

  
Service Transformation 
 
5. The Department has undergone significant transformation in recent years. From 

2010/11 to 2017/18, the Department has delivered savings of around £43m (out of 
£178m for the Council as a whole). These savings have been delivered through a 
combination of wholescale departmental restructures, fundamental service reviews and 
amendments to service delivery models (to improve service efficiency and reduce level 
of service where acceptable and appropriate), contract management efficiencies and 
increasing income levels available to support service delivery. 

17 Agenda Item 8



  

 

6. Focus will continue to be applied as to how services are delivered on the ground to 
ensure resource utilisation (both labour and plant) is optimised. We will also be looking 
at how best we can access additional income that, whilst not being permitted to make a 
profit as such, allows us to cover some of our costs, especially our overheads and fixed 
costs of operation.   

 

7. Further refinements will be considered on the back of some of the most recent changes 
that have been made in the Department. It is still too early to be able to fully assess the 
impact of the recent insourcing of 13 of the 14 recycling and household waste sites. 
However, the initial signs are very promising. By being able to exercise direct control 
over the site operations, we have already been able to make significant process 
improvements and are hopeful of additional savings being realised over and above 
those initially modelled. Similarly, the reconfiguring of the staffing structure within 
highways delivery maintenance has been successfully implemented and has already 
exposed some further efficiencies that could be made in the delivery of certain services 
including drainage and gulley emptying and signs and lines. 

  

8. The balance between in house service delivery and use of external providers will 
continue to be reviewed as contracts terminate, opportunities arise and resources, 
along with potential skill sets, reduce.  

 

9. The scale of the ongoing financial challenge will continue to be difficult to manage within 
Environment and Transport services. Inevitably further savings will require some 
unpalatable decisions, including the need potentially to reconsider areas of savings that 
have already been looked at and not progressed. Also, with a much smaller workforce, 
capacity issues are already appearing in a number of areas which need careful 
management. However, the Department will continue to be proactive in pursuing further 
savings opportunities. The changes that have already been put in place leave the 
Department in a much better position to address this challenge, and ensure that the 
reduced levels of service that can be provided are appropriately targeted, cost-effective 
and well received by local communities.  

 
Proposed Revenue Budget 

 
10. Table 1 below summarises the proposed 2018/19 revenue budget and provisional 

budgets for the next three years thereafter. The proposed 2018/19 revenue budget is 
shown in detail in Appendix A.  
 
TABLE 1 – Revenue Budget 2018/19 to 2021/22 

 2018/19 
£000 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

Original prior year budget 65,316 62,681 61,630 62,219 

Budget transfers and adjustments 1,760 184 64  

Add proposed growth (Appendix  B) 645 655 695 750 

Less proposed savings (Appendix C) -5,040 -1,890 -170 -45 

Proposed/Provisional budget 62,681 61,630 62,219 62,924 

 
11. Detailed service budgets have been compiled on the basis of no pay or price inflation, a 

central contingency will be held which will be allocated to services as necessary.  
 

18



  

12. The central contingency also includes provision for an annual 1% increase in the 
employers’ contribution to the Local Government Pension Scheme based upon the 
2016 triennial actuarial revaluation of the pension fund. 

 
13. The total proposed expenditure budget for 2018/19 is £103.6m with contributions from 

grants, service user income, recharges to the capital programme and various other 
income totalling £40.9m. The proposed net budget for 2018/19 of £62.7m is distributed 
as shown in Table 2 below: 

 
TABLE 2 – Net Budget 2018/19 

 £000 

H&T Management & Training 734 

H&T Commissioning 3,441 

Highways Delivery 5,976 

Transport Operations 25,796 

E&W Management 360 

E&W Policy & Strategy 1,565 

E&W Design & Delivery 23,082 

Departmental & Business Management 1,727 

Total 62,681 

 
Budget Transfers and Adjustments 
 
14. A number of budget transfers (totalling a net increase of £1.8m) were made during the 

2017/18 financial year. These transfers are: 

 £0.6m for pay and pension inflation (including the apprenticeship levy) 
transferred from the central inflation contingency 

 £1.1m for running cost/contract inflation for waste management, street lighting 
and transport budgets from the central inflation contingency 

 £0.1m as net transfers between Departments to reflect minor service changes. 
 
15. Growth and savings have been categorised in the appendices under the following 

classification; 
 
 * item unchanged from previous MTFS 
 ** item included in the previous MTFS, but amendments have been made 

No stars - new item 
 
16. This star rating is included in the descriptions set out for growth and savings below. 
 
17. Savings have also been classified as Transformation or Departmental and highlighted 

as ‘Eff’ or ‘SR’ dependent on whether the saving is seen as efficiency or service 
reduction or a mixture of both. ‘Inc’ denotes those savings that are funding related 
and/or generate more income. 
 

GROWTH 
 
18. Details of proposed growth are set out in Appendix B and provide for an additional 

£2.7m per annum by 2021/22. These are described in the following paragraphs. Before 
the MTFS report to Cabinet on 9 February, the provisional MTFS will be reviewed and if 
appropriate updated by the latest budget monitoring position for 2017/18. 
 

19



  

HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORT 
 
Demand & Cost Increases 
 
G16(**) Special Educational Needs (SEN) transport increased client numbers/costs:  
 £345,000 in 2018/19 rising to £1,565,000 from 2021/22 
 

This growth is the estimated cost increase arising from a continuing upward 
pressure on the SEN transport budget. Historic trends show cost increases of 
between 4% and 9% per annum primarily due to the increasingly complex needs of 
the children transported. The graph below shows the average daily cost per SEN 
user since 2011/12.  

 Average Daily Cost (in £) per SEN user 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 
 

A review of SEN and Social Care Transport is being undertaken (see savings line 
ET5 below) which will help mitigate against the rising costs in these areas. 

 
G17 Social Care Transport: £200,000 from 2018/19  
 

This is additional funding that is required to meet rising costs of social care 
transport. In the current financial year this budget is overspending due to increased 
demand. As above the review (ET5) will help mitigate against the rising costs of this 
service. 

 
ENVIRONMENT & WASTE 
 
Demand & Cost Increases 
 
G18(**) Recycling (and Reuse) credits: £100,000 from 2018/19 
 

This is the remaining annual increase on recycling credits based on 3% per annum. 
From 2019/20 the base has been reset, reflecting the fact that recycling credits are 
no longer being paid in the majority of cases.  

20



  

G19(**) Waste tonnage increases: £280,000 in 2019/20 rising to £880,000 from 2021/22 
 

Waste tonnages are very difficult to estimate for future years. Growth is generally 
modelled based on a modest expected increase of 1% each year. However, waste 
growth in the current year was below what was budgeted for and underspends are 
forecast. Therefore, it is anticipated that additional growth money will not be needed 
for 2018/19.  
 
The measures taken by the service to minimise waste and ensure recycling and 
reuse are maximised, as well as looking at ways to reduce costs of contracts (as 
reflected on the savings side), will help to mitigate against the impact of waste 
tonnage increases. The position will continue to be monitored going forwards and 
future years’ growth requirements amended accordingly as the MTFS is refreshed 
each year. 

 
SAVINGS 
 
20. Details of proposed savings are set out in Appendix C and total £5.0m in 2018/19 rising 

to £7.1m per annum by 2021/22. These are detailed in the following paragraphs.  
 
HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORT 
 
Transformation 
 
ET1 (**) (Eff/SR) Street Lighting – expected savings from conversion to LEDs including 

consideration of any further switching off, dimming and part night lighting: 
£1,000,000 from 2018/19  

 
This is the remaining benefit from the wholesale switch of all the County’s 68,000+ 
street lights to LEDs combined with the use of a Central Management System which 
allows every column to be controlled remotely from a central location. Including the 
£1,000,000 already delivered, the total savings will be £2,000,000. The works are 
expected to have substantially finished by the end of the current financial year. 
 

ET2 (*) (Eff/SR/Inc) Revised approach to Highways Activities (Looking after Leicestershire): 
£550,000 from 2018/19 

 
This is the final tranche of savings from a range of efficiency measures and service 
reductions across highway maintenance activity which in total will be around £5m. 
Efficiency elements include focussing on packaging and procuring of planned 
works, improved productivity, maximising use of information sources such as parish 
councils, members of the public etc. and ensuring the Council is maximising all 
potential sources of income including the introduction of a permit scheme for road 
space booking.  

 
The main element of service reduction relates to the continued reduction of revenue 
funding for road and footway maintenance activity with the impact of this being 
mitigated through redirecting funding from the Local Transport Plan (LTP) capital 
resources, previously used to deliver improvement schemes, into maintenance. 
There is a statutory responsibility to maintain highways but no such duty to improve 
them. Sustaining overall highway maintenance funding in this way will better enable 
a switch from defect-driven maintenance to preventative maintenance, itself more 

21



  

cost-effective over time. Also, part of the saving relates to use of commuted sums 
money each year to bolster the depleted maintenance budgets. The existing 
commuted sums calculation is also being reviewed to incorporate more realistic 
assumptions regarding long term interest rates and inflation which will increase the 
amounts received.  
 

ET3(*) (Eff/SR/Inc) Service review of Highway Authority planning processes and charging 
regimes: £250,000 from 2018/19 

 
This arises from a revised approach to dealing with planning applications and pre-
application enquiries. It will involve a complete review of current charging systems 
to recover full costs of pre-application, transport model maintenance and use and 
design checks. It is in addition to £300,000 delivered in 2017/18. 
 

ET4 (SR) Revised Passenger Transport Policy: £400,000 from 2019/20 
 

LCC has certain statutory responsibilities in respect of passenger transport service 
provision and meeting people’s ‘essential’ needs (undefined in the 1985 Transport 
Act). It has a current local bus policy that fulfils these responsibilities; but this policy 
has not been reviewed in a number of years and no longer provides the robust 
framework needed going forward.  

 
A new Passenger Transport Policy is being developed which will revisit: where and 
when it is appropriate for LCC to intervene (i.e. the policy objectives); the range of 
passenger transport options available to meet people’s ‘essential’ needs; and 
criteria by which overall value for money is assessed. The expectation is that this 
will help LCC to find the most cost-effective ways to meet its statutory 
responsibilities in the prevailing circumstances, with the potential to make savings 
on current budgets and/or to off-set potential future budgetary growth pressures.  

 
ET5 (Eff/SR) Implement review of social care and SEN transport (Phase 2): £770,000 in 

2018/19 rising to £1,190,000 from 2019/20 
 

These savings arise from implementing a range of measures to help manage down 
spend against SEN and Social Care Transport budgets. This is a second phase that 
follows on from a previous project which implemented a number of changes picked 
up in ET9 below. 

The measures being considered for inclusion include: Personal Travel Budgets for 
eligible students; changes to Policy around eligibility for transport (dependent on the 
outcome of consultation); and various process improvements in adult social care 
transport around journey scheduling and information sharing.  Savings are difficult 
to quantify exactly. They will be dependent on the outcome of the consultation 
exercise and also other factors such as take up. The savings built in are based on 
the mid-point of a possible range of savings.  

ET6 (Eff) Review of staff absence: £25,000 in 2019/20 rising to £50,000 from 2020/21 

 To reflect the support being put in place to reduce staff absence a financial target 
has been allocated to all departments. This reflects the intention to meet or exceed 
the County Council’s target of 7.5 days per FTE. The target is phased 50% in 
2019/20 and 100% in 2020/21 to allow time for improvement to take effect. This is 
the savings target for the whole Department. 

22



  

Departmental 
 
ET7(*) (Eff) Further contract renewal savings: £100,000 from 2018/19 
 

Significant savings have been realised in recent years through the re-
commissioning of current bus and taxi service contracts through the Transport 
Operations Group’s business support function, including through the use of e-
auctions. There is an expectation that a limited amount of further contract renewal 
savings can be achieved, although there is always the risk that pressures on service 
providers mean that contracts become unsustainable for them if prices are forced 
too low. 

 
ET8(*) (Eff/SR/Inc) Review of road safety strategy and provision: £170,000 from 2018/19 
 

This saving arises from working with the Road Safety Partnership to explore 
alternative commissioning and funding arrangements across the partnership areas. 
It is in addition to the £220k delivered in 2017/18. 

 
ET9(*) (Eff/SR) Review of SEN/Social Care transport: £125,000 from 2018/19 

 
These savings arise from an improved risk assessment process which will inform 
contract specification and allow costs to be reduced, working with procurement to 
optimise current tendering frameworks and ensure a more consistent application of 
current policy. It is in addition to £125,000 delivered in 2017/18. 
 

ET10(**) (SR/Inc) County wide parking strategy: £600,000 from 2019/20 
 

Currently no on-street parking charges are applied in Leicestershire. Any income 
received from introducing such charges has to be made available under current 
legislation to fund transport services. Subject to the necessary business case and 
approvals, the additional income will be used to fund existing services, rather than 
new ones, allowing revenue funding to be released to generate the saving. 
 

ET11 (Eff) Implement Alternative Fleet Provision: £200,000 from 2019/20 
 
 This saving will arise from looking at alternative delivery models for providing 

transport for some of our high cost SEN transport clients. Specifically looking at the 
balance between what is provided through external contracts and what is provided 
with our in-house fleet. 

 
ET12 (Eff) Revenue Savings from Capital Programme: £100,000 from 2019/20 
 

The Capital Programme includes provision of £410,000 to fund improvement works 
at the workshop at Croft Depot. This will improve the logistics for managing the flow 
of vehicles through the workshop and in doing so increase the efficiency of the 
operation. This will reduce the time vehicles are off the road (reducing the need for 
temporary vehicle hire), free up parking capacity and increase the workshop’s 
capacity to secure income from external work including MOTs.  

 

23



  

ENVIRONMENT & WASTE 
 
Transformation 
 
ET13(**) (SR/Inc) Review of Recycling and Household Waste Site (RHWS) provision: £5,000 

in 2018/19 rising to £20,000 from 2021/22 
 

This is the ongoing impact of the various measures taken at RHWSs including 
reductions in opening hours and introduction of charging for certain waste types. 
This is in addition to the £655,000 already achieved. 

 
ET14(**) (Eff) Revised RHWS delivery model: £350,000 2018/19 
 

This is the full year impact of the savings that arise from bringing back the service 
in-house from 30 June 2017. This is in addition to the £250,000 delivered in 
2017/18 giving a total ongoing saving of £600,000. This is £200,000 more than was 
anticipated from the business case (and was built into the previous MTFS). 

 
ET15(**) (Eff) Revised payment mechanism for recycling credits for dry materials (net 

saving): £1,300,000 in 2018/19 rising to £1,400,000 from 2019/20 
 

These savings arise from the removal of the recycling credits paid to the waste 
collection authorities for dry materials (approximately £3.4m) offset by the cost of 
the measures that have been put in place by the County Council to manage the 
processing of those dry recyclables and avoid recyclable materials finding their way 
back into the residual waste stream.  
 

Departmental 
 
ET16(**) (Eff) Efficiencies from contract procurement/renewal: £140,000 from 2018/19 
 

This is a continuation of the saving in last year’s MTFS arising from efficiencies in 
contract procurements to be undertaken for a range of elements of the Waste 
Management service. 

 
ET17(**) (Eff) Reduced costs of green waste disposal: £50,000 from 2018/19 
 

This is a further saving arising from the review of green waste contracts coupled 
with reduced green waste tonnages. This is in addition to the £250,000 delivered in 
2017/18. 

 
ET18(**) (Inc) Trade Waste income: £80,000 in 2018/19 rising to £200,000 from 2021/22 
 

This saving will arise from increasing turnover by optimising the rates charged for 
accepting trade waste at Whetstone Transfer Station. 
  

ET19(**) (Eff) Future Residual Waste: £150,000 from 2018/19 rising to £250,000 from 
2020/21 

 
These are savings that will arise in waste management from an agreement with 
Coventry and Solihull Waste Disposal Partnership (CSWDP). The County Council is 
planning to become a Part C share holder in the partnership which would give it 

24



  

access to cheaper gate fees at the CSWDP incinerator at Coventry for up to 80,000  
tonnes (from 2020/21), subject to capacity (a minimum tonnage of 64,000 will be 
guaranteed). Currently around 40,000 tonnes go to the Coventry facility and this 
agreement also gives access to cheaper gate fees on these tonnages from next 
year. 

 
Savings under Development 
 
21. The MTFS is balanced in 2018/19 and 2019/20 but shows a shortfall of £8.8m in 

2020/21 rising to £17.7m in 2021/22. To help bridge the gap a number of initiatives are 
under development to generate further savings. Within the Environment and Transport 
Department the following options are being pursued: 

 
(i) Future Residual Waste Strategy 

Savings of £250,000 linked to the Future Residual Waste Strategy are already built 
into the draft MTFS (ET19). This initiative relates to the impending purchase of a 
Class C share in the Coventry and Solihull Waste Disposal Partnership to provide 
access to increased tonnages at preferential rates at the Coventry energy from 
waste plant. In addition to this, other significant disposal contracts need to be 
reviewed at certain future points. It is hoped that the future procurement exercise(s) 
that will need to be undertaken for this waste will lead to further savings. 
 
(ii) Highways Delivery Model 

This broad initiative will aim to examine what the most appropriate long term model 
is for the Highways Delivery service. Recognising the constraints to the service of 
working under LCC terms and conditions, which are at times out of line with the rest 
of the sector.  The intention is to look at how different models could be applied to 
overcome this. Alternative delivery models could include a teckal model, a joint 
venture partnership or other commercial organisational structures operating within a 
wider corporate trading arm. 
 
(iii) Income generation/S278 and related service reviews 

The proposal builds on previous restructures and aligns the Highways Delivery 
service to emerging themes around commerciality, digital and embedding a 
customer focus. In the short to medium term specific functions will be examined to 
explore options for increased efficiency and refocusing that capacity, within the 
existing service, to delivering a new approach specifically around section 278s. The 
intention is to provide a ‘one stop shop’ for developers, using a delivery partner to 
undertake the work on the ground thus minimising LCC’s risk and to charge a 
percentage fee to do so. 
 

(iv) Reuse 

Potential opportunities exist to increase levels of reuse of county waste at Recycling 
and Household Waste Sites, possibly through the construction, or rental of an 
appropriate facility from which to operate a reuse shop. 

25



  

(v) RHWS future service offer 

This involves the investigation of any further potential benefits following the 
successful insourcing of 13 of the 14 RHWS sites. In addition it will include 
reviewing our current RHWS provision, both on an individual site level and 
collectively to explore whether, across the whole county, the type and level of 
service offer is still suitable against a tougher financial climate and external 
legislative changes. This initiative would also consider strategic relationships with 
other key stakeholders operating within Leicestershire and the wider region.   

 
External Influences 
 
22. Fuel Prices 

 
Fuel prices continue to be a key driver in terms of the Department’s service delivery 
costs. There is a high likelihood that these will rise significantly in future years. As such, 
internal costs of service delivery, as well as the cost of contracts as they come up for 
renewal, would increase. It is difficult to quantify the impact, but a high level estimate is 
that fuel represents between 10% and 15% of Departmental expenditure (around £8m) 
either as a direct cost, or more significantly as an upward pressure on contract prices 
from external providers. Provision is made within the central inflation contingency for 
inflationary increases. However, if fuel prices do increase significantly, this central 
contingency may not be sufficient. 
 

23. Waste tonnages 
 
The Waste Management budget is essentially demand led with the driver being the 
amount of waste being generated within the local economy. The service will manage the 
waste arising through looking for opportunities to move tonnages between different 
facilities and contracts to ensure overall costs are minimised. Nonetheless, if the 
underlying assumption of 1% waste growth per annum (from 2019/20) is insufficient, the 
service will be challenged to contain costs within the indicative future years’ budgets 
suggested by this MTFS.  
 

Other Funding Sources 
 
24. For 2018/19, a number of additional funding sources are expected and allowed for 

within the budget outlined in Appendix A. The key ones include: 
 

   Section 38 and 278 agreements  – £2.1m income from developers relating to fees for 
staff time, mostly around design checks for these agreements; 
  

   Capital fee income - £4.9m for staff time charged in delivering the capital programme.  
Should elements of the capital programme not be delivered as planned this could 
have an impact on the amount of staff time recovered. However, the use of agency 
and temporary staff resource does give some scope for varying staff levels in order to 
minimise the risk of this resulting in overspending in staffing cost centres.   Future 
years’ capital programme allocations from the DFT are also uncertain and could 
therefore have a knock on impact on the fees recovered; 

 

   External works/charges to other bodies (works for other authorities, enforcement of 
road space booking, permit scheme and network management ) - £3.6m; 

  

26



  

   Capital substitution - £3.4m of income is provided from the central capital financing 
reserve to enable savings (especially elements of ET2) to be made on capital 
expenditure rather than impacting on revenue; 

   

   Driver Education workshop - £2.3m of fee income collected for the Road Safety 
Partnership from drivers taking speed awareness and similar courses. This income is 
returned to the partnership net of the cost of operating the courses; 

 

   Joint arrangement income - £9.6m from Leicester City Council primarily to cover the 
costs and the management of the City Council’s concessionary travel provision plus 
other areas of joint transport arrangements in relation to local bus services, SEN and 
mainstream school transport; 

 

   Civil parking enforcement income - £1.5m which covers penalty charge notices 
(PCNs) for on-street parking and income from the Districts to cover the cost of 
processing off-street PCNs on their behalf; 

 

   Internal recharges - £5.9m for the internal fleet transport service and the vehicle 
workshop; 

 

   Trade Waste income and income from charging at RHWS - £1.4m; 
 

   Other small specific grants (such as Bus Service Operators Grant) - £1.0m;  
 

   Income from the sale of recyclable materials collected at RHWSs - £0.6m; 
 

   Transport provision - £0.3m from charges made for post 16 travel. 
 
Capital Programme – Main Programme 
 
25. The draft capital programme is summarised in Table 3 and the detailed programme is 

set out in Appendix D. The capital programme is funded by a combination of the Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) grant, discretionary funding and other external and internal 
sources.  

 
TABLE 3 – Summary Draft Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22 

 2018/19 
£000 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Highways and Transportation 36,820 37,130 25,160 14,460 113,570 

Environment and Waste 400 260 150 150 960 

Total 37,220 37,390 25,310 14,610 114,530 

 
 
HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORTATION 
 
26. The 2018/19-2021/22 capital programme for Highways & Transportation is funded from 

the following sources shown in Table 4.  

27



  

 
TABLE 4 – Transportation Capital Funding 

  2018/19 
£000 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Grant - Local Transport Plan (LTP)  - 
Integrated transport element 

2,728 2,728 2,728 2,728 10,912 

Grant - Local Transport Plan (LTP)  - 
Total needs/formula allocation 

11,442 11,442 11,442 11,442 45,768 

Grant - Local Transport Plan (LTP)  - 
Maintenance - Incentive element1 

2,383 2,383 2,383 2,383 9,532 

Grant – Pothole Fund 717 717 717 717 2,868 

Grants -  National Productivity 
Investment Fund (NPIF) 

695 2,780   3,475 

Grants – Growth and Housing Fund 
(GHF) 

10,000    10,000 

Grants – Single Local Growth Fund 
(via the LLEP) 

 6,000 6,000  12,000 

External Contributions  7,800 5,000  12,800 

Revenue and Earmarked Funds – 
agreed from 16/17 and 17/18 
underspend 

3,300     3,300 

Revenue and Earmarked Funds – 
renewals 

1,475      1,475 

Capital substitution -3,400 -3,200 -3,100 -3,100 -12,800 

Corporate Funding (capital receipts 
and revenue) 

7,480 6,480 -10 290 14,240 

Total  Highways & Transportation 36,820 37,130 25,160 14,460 113,570 

1. Assumes level 3 achieved   

 
27. The Department for Transport (DfT) has previously informed local authorities of the 

indicative amounts they will receive for the LTP in 2018/19 to 2020/21. At the time of 
writing the Government has yet to confirm the allocations (including thise for the pothole 
fund) so the figures above are still provisional. The LTP comprises two elements:  

 
a) Integrated Transport Schemes - funding of £2.7m has been assumed each year from 

2018/19 to 2021/22.  This funding will be used as match funding for grant bids into 
the Single Local Growth Fund via the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise 
Partnership (LLEP) (see paragraph 28) and the National Productivity Investment 
Fund as well as other future potential funding opportunities (see paragraph 30). This 
resource will also be used to fund advanced design and feasibility studies to ensure 
outline business cases are available to support any such bids. 
 

b) Maintenance – LTP Maintenance funding  now comes in 3 elements:  

 £11.4m is assumed each year for the basic needs based allocation 

 £0.7m is assumed for the pothole fund allocation 

 £2.4m is assumed each year as the Incentive Fund allocation. These amounts 
are predicated on the basis that the County Council is able to demonstrate that 
its approach to asset management meets level 3 on the Government’s 
assessment scale. Going forwards, failing to reach level 3 will see an 

28



  

increasing reduction in funding available compared to being at Level 2. Table 5 
below shows this difference.  

 

TABLE 5 – Difference between Level 2 and Level 3 for the Incentive Fund 

Year Incentive Fund  
if at Level 3  

£000 

Incentive Fund 
if at Level 2  

£000 

Difference  
£000 

2018/19 2,383 1,668 715 

2019/20 2,383 1,192 1,191 

2020/21 2,383 715 1,668 

2021/22 2,383 715 1,668 

  
28. The County Council was successful in bidding into the Single Local Growth Fund 

(SLGF), secured via the LLEP, for £12m towards the improvement works for M1J23. 
This has been further supplemented by a successful bid of £5m from the Growth and 
Housing Fund (GHF). Overall the scheme is expected to cost £27m with the balance of 
funding being secured through external contributions from developers. 

 
29. Another successful £5m bid into the GHF is to fund the works to Anstey Lane/A46 

including signalisation of the roundabout. This is also supplemented by a contribution of 
£2.8m from Leicester City Council in the form of development contributions. 

 
30. A successful bid has also been made to access £3.5m from the National Productivity 

Investment Fund (NPIF) to fund improvement junction works in Hinckley around the 
Hawley Road area. In order to secure this funding, it was necessary to commit £1.5m of 
funding from the County Council’s integrated transport element of the LTP as match 
funding.  

 
31. At the time of writing, the County Council, together with Melton Borough Council, are 

awaiting the outcome of a bid into the Local Authorities Majors Fund to construct the 
Melton Mowbray Eastern Distributor Road. The scheme is estimated to cost £63m, 
including initial design and associated works required to get the scheme to shovel ready 
status of which £49m would be funded by the DfT with the remaining £14m being 
funded locally. The intention is that the local contributions would ultimately be funded 
through developer funding. However, there will be a need to both cash flow, and 
underwrite these local contributions for which a joint funding agreement has been 
signed with Melton BC. 

 
32.   The key elements of the discretionary capital programme are: 
 

 Match funding/ Advanced Design for major schemes (£5.2m) - has been allocated 
over the four years of the Capital Programme to undertake further feasibility and 
advanced design work to ensure the Council is in a good position to bid for funding 
for other potential future schemes such as through the SLGF, NPIF, GHF, the Local 
Authorities Major Fund etc. However, such bids are likely to require match funding to 
be identified for which some of this funding will be utilised.  

 Zouch Bridge replacement (£1.8m) – the bridge over the River Soar at Zouch, which 
carries the A6006, is beyond economic repair due to its age, condition, complexity of 
the structure and materials used at the time of construction. Preliminary work on this 
started in 2015/16. However, the project continues to suffer slippage due to delays in 

29



  

securing land required for the scheme. It is expected that construction will be 
completed within the 2019/20 financial year. 

 County Council Vehicle Programme (£6.7m) – this is the funding required to support 
the County Council’s vehicle replacement programme. Through the Driver and 
Vehicle Management team, a more coordinated approach to managing and 
maintaining the County County’s vehicle fleet has been put in place. This includes 
mapping out a planned replacement programme taking into account the expected 
future vehicle requirements (based on future workloads, the current age of the fleet, 
the expected usable life for each class of vehicle and the cost of replacement).  

 Melton Depot replacement (£1.3m) – the depot currently used in Melton is leased 
from Melton Town Estates. This arrangement could be terminated with relatively 
short notice and indications have already been given that it will certainly not be 
renewed beyond 2019. This is a crucial location for Highways services, especially for 
Winter Maintenance, and work has already begun in the current year in identifying a 
new site.  

 Street lighting (£5m) – this is the final tranche of the funding for the invest to save 
programme (generating £2m savings per annum) that started in 2015/16 to replace 
all County Council maintained street lights (around 68,000) with LED lighting 
including a Central Management System to remotely control them, and the de-
illumination of traffic signs and bollards. The works are expected to be completed 
imminently, so this funding has effectively been accelerated into the current financial 
year. 

 An allocation of £0.5m has been made to fund a number of safety issues including 
minor improvements, and the renewal of lining and signing, especially around 
junctions. 

 An invest to save project has been provided for to make improvements linked to the 
workshop at Croft. The investment is for £0.4m with savings estimated at £0.1m per 
annum as outlined in ET12 above. 

33. The key risks to delivery of the capital programme are: 

 Uncertainty around future funding, especially in relation to the more strategic road 
network improvement schemes which will depend on successful bids for funding and 
contributions from developers. 

 Construction industry inflation generally runs at a higher level than underlying 
inflation levels, largely due to the significant dependency on the price of oil. The 
implication of this is that there is potentially a bigger decrease in real terms over time 
in terms of what capital funding can provide compared to revenue resources. 

 With a declining internal workforce, there is an increased risk of skill shortages in 
relation to scheme co-ordination, design and delivery. However, due to the 
uncertainty over future funding levels, it is not possible to retain resources just in 
case. Therefore these skills may need to be brought in externally when funding bids 
are successful. However, the Department is increasingly experiencing difficulties in 
securing appropriately skilled external resources.  

 Poor weather conditions may lead to delayed delivery of Highways activity such as 
surface dressing.  If this was to continue for 2-3 years the network could end up in a 
poorer condition resulting in more costly temporary repairs. 

30



  

 
34. Grant funding opportunities will continue to be pursued where appropriate, including 

further bids into the pots where we have already been successful. Potential funding 
sources include: 

 Local Authority Challenge Fund  

 Housing Infrastructure Fund  

 National Productivity Investment Fund 

 Growth and Housing Fund 

 Single Local Growth Fund 

 Local Majors Fund 

 Future Major Road Network Funding from 2020/21. 
 

ENVIRONMENT & WASTE 
 
35.  The 2018/19–2021/22 capital programme for Environment & Waste is shown in Table 6 

below. It is funded from money to be transferred from a Waste Infrastructure reserve. 
 

TABLE 6 – Environment & Waste Capital Programme  

 2018/19 
£000 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

Total 
£000 

RHWS – drainage  250 110   360 

RHWS – general improvements   150 150 150 150 600 

Total  Environment 400 260 150 150 960 

 
36. The programme provides for the funding of site improvements and repairs (including 

those relating to drainage) to provide modern, user friendly facilities, improved health 
and safety on site and improved recycling facilities to reduce waste tonnage to landfill.  

 
Capital Programme – Future Developments 
 
37. Where capital projects are not yet fully developed or plans agreed these have been 

included under the heading of ‘Future Developments’ under the Department’s 
programme in Appendix D. £28m is being held corporately to fund future capital 
schemes, which may include some of these. It is intended that as these schemes are 
developed, and where there is a financial justification, or an investment required to 
maintain delivery of the service, they are added into the capital programme. They 
include: 

 Speed Cameras – for a potential roll out across the County depending on the 
outcome of the trial at seven specific locations in the County; 

 County Wide Parking Strategy – the infrastructure required to support the revenue 
saving outlined in ET12; 

 S106 developer schemes – these will be schemes brought forward as S106 
contributions are agreed to fund future infrastructure to support housing 
developments; 

 Melton Mowbray Distributor Road – if the bid to the Local Authority Majors fund is 
successful; 

31



  

 Waste Transfer Station Development – depending on the procurement exercise 
(referred to in the ‘savings under development’ section) it may be necessary for the 
Council to construct a waste transfer station to manage and bulk up the waste prior 
to it being transported to the treatment facility; 

 Windrow composting facility – the County Council’s current disposal options for green 
waste may not be available beyond the medium term. Depending on the outcome of 
soft market testing, it may be necessary for the Council to construct its own facility.  

 
Background Papers 
 
Cabinet 12 December 2017 - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 to 2021/22 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=53670#mgDocuments 
 
Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact  
 
Ann Carruthers, Director of Environment & Transport 
Tel: 0116 305 7000 
E-mail: ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk 
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Finance, Corporate Resources Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 
E-mail: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Nick Wash, Finance Business Partner – Environment & Transport, Corporate Resources 
Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7146 
E-mail: nick.wash@leics.gov.uk 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Revenue Budget 2018/19 
Appendix B – Growth 2018/19 – 2021/22 
Appendix C – Savings 2018/19 – 2021/22 
Appendix D – Capital Programme 2018/19 – 2021/22 

 
Equality and Human Rights implications  
 
38. Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected characteristics 
and those who do not; and 

 Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics and those 
who do not.   
 

32

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=53670#mgDocuments
mailto:ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:nick.wash@leics.gov.uk


  

39. Many aspects of the County Council’s MTFS may affect service users who have a 
protected characteristic under equalities legislation.  An assessment of the impact of the 
proposals on the protected groups must be undertaken at a formative stage prior to any 
final decisions being made. Such assessments will be undertaken in light of the 
potential impact of proposals and the timing of any proposed changes. Those 
assessments will be revised as the proposals are developed to ensure decision makers 
have information to understand the effect of any service change, policy or practice on 
people who have a protected characteristic. 

 
40. Proposals in relation to savings arising out of a reduction in posts will be subject to the 

County Council Organisational Change policy which requires an Equality Impact 
Assessment to be undertaken as part of the action plan.  

 

33



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

REVENUE BUDGET 2018/19

Budget

2017/18 Employees

Running 

Expenses

Internal 

Income

Gross 

Budget

External 

Income Net Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORTATION

734,200 Management & Training costs 901,800 318,300 -9,000 1,211,100 -476,900 734,200

Commissioning 

1,964,500   Staffing & Admin Commissioning 5,775,100 357,700 -1,900,300 4,232,500 -2,688,000 1,544,500

1,340,100   Traffic Controls 0 1,715,100 -300,000 1,415,100 -75,000 1,340,100

255,900   Road Safety 313,800 515,400 -450,600 378,600 -122,700 255,900

0   Speed Awareness 163,600 1,762,000 371,300 2,296,900 -2,296,900 0

300,300   Sustainable Travel 0 301,200 0 301,200 -900 300,300

Delivery 

1,155,100   Staffing, Admin. & Depot Overhead Costs 6,957,500 1,065,400 -5,210,000 2,812,900 -2,207,800 605,100

3,372,000   Environmental Maintenance 1,139,100 2,304,900 0 3,444,000 -72,000 3,372,000

3,295,300   Street Lighting Maintenance 0 2,351,600 0 2,351,600 -56,300 2,295,300

1,490,800   Reactive Maintenance (Structural & Safety) 419,700 1,071,100 0 1,490,800 0 1,490,800

1,628,800   Winter Maintenance 0 1,628,800 0 1,628,800 0 1,628,800

-3,416,000   Capital revenue Switch -3,416,000 -3,416,000 -3,416,000 

Transport Operations

1,167,400   Staffing & Admin Transport 2,578,900 763,000 -1,922,300 1,419,600 -252,200 1,167,400

9,442,500   Special Education Needs 0 9,536,500 0 9,536,500 -179,000 9,357,500

4,166,700   Mainstream School Transport 0 4,365,700 0 4,365,700 -199,000 4,166,700

3,712,800   Social Care Transport 0 3,560,300 0 3,560,300 -112,500 3,447,800

203,000   Fleet Transport 3,434,100 1,674,500 -4,571,300 537,300 -334,300 203,000

5,051,600   Concessionary Travel & Joint Arrangements 0 14,116,000 0 14,116,000 -9,064,400 5,051,600

2,464,300   Public Bus Services 0 3,862,000 -180,800 3,681,200 -1,316,900 2,364,300

37,200   Blue Badge 0 157,200 0 157,200 -120,000 37,200

0   Civil Parking Enforcement 0 1,471,800 0 1,471,800 -1,471,800 0

38,366,500 TOTAL 21,683,600 52,898,500 0 -17,589,000 0 56,993,100 0 -21,046,600 35,946,500

ENVIRONMENT & WASTE MANAGEMENT

359,800 Management 357,000 2,800 0 359,800 0 359,800

Policy & Strategy

958,200   Staffing & Admin Policy & Strategy E&W 964,500 46,800 -39,100 972,200 -14,000 958,200

307,700   Initiatives 0 330,000 0 330,000 -22,300 307,700

3,188,800   Recycling & Reuse Credits 0 298,800 0 298,800 0 298,800

Design & Delivery

221,200   Staffing & Admin Design & Delivery E&WM 241,200 0 0 241,200 -20,000 221,200

6,181,000   Landfill 0 6,041,000 0 6,041,000 0 6,041,000

10,797,200   Treatment Contracts 0 10,642,200 0 10,642,200 0 10,642,200

0   Dry Recycling 0 1,690,000 0 1,690,000 0 1,690,000

1,650,000   Composting Contracts 0 1,600,000 0 1,600,000 0 1,600,000

2,897,000   Recycling & Household Waste Sites 2,079,100 1,377,600 -200,000 3,256,700 -709,700 2,547,000

1,581,900   Haulage & Waste Transfer 55,900 1,526,000 0 1,581,900 0 1,581,900

-1,161,000   Income 0 0 0 0 -1,241,000 -1,241,000 

26,981,800 TOTAL 3,697,700 23,555,200 -239,100 0 27,013,800 -2,007,000 25,006,800

DEPARTMENTAL AND BUSINESS MANAGEMENT

1,273,100   Management & Admin 1,281,800 24,600 -33,300 1,273,100 0 1,273,100

454,200   Departmental Costs 0 454,200 0 454,200 0 454,200

1,727,300 TOTAL 1,281,800 478,800 -33,300 0 1,727,300 0 1,727,300

67,075,600 TOTAL ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT 26,663,100 76,932,500 -17,861,400 0 85,734,200 -23,053,600 62,680,600

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT DEPARTMENT

35



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

References 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000

GROWTH
ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT

Highways & Transport

Demand & cost increases

** G16 Special Educational Needs transport - increased client numbers/costs 345 720 1,125 1,565

G17 Social Care Transport 200 200 200 200

Total 545 920 1,325 1,765

Environment & Waste Management

Demand & cost increases

** G18 Recycling (and Reuse) Credits 100 100 100 100

** G19 Waste tonnage increases 0 280 570 880

Total 100 380 670 980

Total 645 1,300 1,995 2,745

*  items unchanged from previous Medium Term Financial Strategy

** items included in the previous Medium Term Financial Strategy which have been amended

37



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C

References 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000

SAVINGS

References used in the following tables

*  items unchanged from previous Medium Term Financial Strategy

** items included in the previous Medium Term Financial Strategy which have been amended

Eff - Efficiency saving

SR - Service reduction

Inc - Income

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT

Highways & Transport

Transformation

** ET1 Eff/SR Street Lighting - expected savings from conversion to LEDs including 

consideration of any further switching off, dimming and part night lighting -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 -1,000

* ET2 Eff/SR

/Inc

Revised approach to Highways Maintenance (Looking after Leicestershire) 

including improvement schemes -550 -550 -550 -550

* ET3 Eff/SR

/Inc

Service review of Highway Authority planning processes and charging 

regimes -250 -250 -250 -250

ET4 SR Revise Passenger Transport Policy -400 -400 -400

ET5 Eff/SR Implement Review of Social Care and SEN Transport (Phase 2) -770 -1,190 -1,190 -1,190

ET6 Eff Review of staff absence -25 -50 -50

Total -2,570 -3,415 -3,440 -3,440

Departmental

* ET7 Eff Further contract renewal savings -100 -100 -100 -100

* ET8 Eff/SR

/Inc

Review of Road Safety strategy and provision -170 -170 -170 -170

* ET9 Eff/SR Review of SEN / Social Care Transport -125 -125 -125 -125

** ET10 SR/Inc County wide parking strategy -600 -600 -600

ET11 Eff Implement Alternative Fleet Provision -200 -200 -200

ET12 Eff Revenue savings from capital programme -100 -100 -100

Total -395 -1,295 -1,295 -1,295

Total -2,965 -4,710 -4,735 -4,735

Environment & Waste

Transformation

** ET13 SR/Inc Review of Recycling & Household Waste Sites (RHWS) provision -5 -10 -15 -20

** ET14 Eff Revised RHWS delivery model -350 -350 -350 -350

** ET15 Eff Revised payment mechanism for recycling credits for dry materials (net 

saving – gross saving £3.4m) -1,300 -1,400 -1,400 -1,400

Total -1,655 -1,760 -1,765 -1,770

Departmental

** ET16 Eff Efficiencies from contract procurement/renewal -140 -140 -140 -140

** ET17 Eff Reduced costs of green waste disposal -50 -50 -50 -50

** ET18 Inc Trade Waste income -80 -120 -160 -200

** ET19 Eff Future residual waste strategy -150 -150 -250 -250

Total -420 -460 -600 -640

Total -2,075 -2,220 -2,365 -2,410

TOTAL E&T -5,040 -6,930 -7,100 -7,145

39



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX  D

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2018/19 to 2021/22 - Draft

2018/19       

£000

2019/20       

£000

2020/21       

£000

2021/22       

£000

Total

£000

HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORT

Commitments b/f

Zouch Bridge Replacement 1,160 600 1,760

Advance Design - Strategic Economic Partnership 1,330 1,100 920 1,850 5,200

Planning and Design - Melton Mowbray Distributor Road 1,500 2,500 4,000

County Council Vehicle Programme 1,840 2,060 1,750 1,100 6,750

Melton Depot - Replacement 0 1,250 1,250

Street Lighting (LED Installation,CMS System and de-illumination of street signs) 5,000 5,000

10,830 7,510 2,670 2,950 23,960

New Starts

Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) 

Anstey Lane A46 5,000 2,800 7,800

M1 Junction 23 5,000 11,000 11,000 27,000

Transport Asset Management (assumed at Level 3)* 12,290 11,490 11,510 35,290

Capital Schemes and Design 1,160 1,160

Bridges 1,960 1,960

Flood Alleviation 390 390

Footways (Category 1,2,3 & 4) 500 500

Street Lighting 650 650

Traffic Signal Renewal 230 230

Surface Dressing & Preventative Maintenance 3,850 3,850

Restorative (Patching) 4,820 4,820

Hinckley Hub (Hawley Road) 1,440 3,530 4,970

Croft Office Blocks Improvements 410 410

Safety Schemes 500 500

Highways Maintenance - IT renewals 80 80

25,990 29,620 22,490 11,510 89,610

ENVIRONMENT & WASTE

New Schemes

Recycling Household Waste Sites - drainage 250 110 360

Recycling Household Waste Sites - general improvements 150 150 150 150 600

Total Waste Management 400 260 150 150 960

Total E&T 37,220 37,390 25,310 14,610 114,530

* programme amended by -£3.4m (2018/19), -£3.2m (2019/20), -£3.1m (2020/21) and -£3.1m (2021/22) for substitution to E&T revenue budget

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business case

S106 Schemes - externally funded tbc

County wide parking strategy

Speed Cameras - Roll out

Melton Mowbray Distributor Road - subject to DfT bid

Waste Transfer Station Development

Windrow Composting Facility

41



  

42



 
 

 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 18 JANUARY 2018 

 
COMMUNITY BUS PARTNERSHIP REVIEW 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to:- 

 
a) present the findings of an operational review of Community Bus 

Partnerships (CBPs) operating in Leicestershire; 
b) explain the authority’s current position on its CBPs and operational 

decisions taken;  
c) seek the views of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on the value of CBPs; and; 
d) inform the Committee of work on the development of a new Passenger 

Transport Policy against which, if implemented, CBPs will be reviewed.  
  

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

2. A report was presented to the Environment and Transport Scrutiny Review Panel 
held on 12 September 2013 on the County Council’s 95% Bus Coverage Policy.  
The Panel recommended that Cabinet approve a proposed new supported bus 
policy, as outlined in paragraphs 18 and 19 of that report (see Appendix A). 

 
3. At its meeting on 13 September 2013, the Cabinet resolved:- 

 
That the proposed new supported bus policy, as outlined in paragraphs 18 and 19 
of the report, be adopted as the new County Council policy for the supported bus 
network on the basis that it: 
 

a) provided a strategic fit with the objectives outlined in the Local Transport 
Plan 3; 
 

b) sought to meet, subject to the transport offer being affordable and 
demonstrating value for money, the ‘essential travel needs’ of 
Leicestershire residents as defined in paragraph 19 of the report; and 

 
c) had ensured that the whole transport offer was underpinned by clear value 

for money criteria. 
 
4. A further report of the Environment and Transport Scrutiny Review Panel on the 

County Council’s 95% Bus Coverage Policy was discussed by the Cabinet at its 
meeting on 6 May 2014.  

 

43 Agenda Item 9



 
 

5. In the report, the Panel identified the following services for a CBP type approach 
and stipulated service recommendations for each (as set out in Appendix B):- 

 
a)         Service 7 (Atherstone – Measham); 
b)         Services 55/56 (Melton Mowbray – Grantham); 
c)         Service 113 (Melton Mowbray – Oakham); and 
d)         Service 129 (Ashby – Loughborough). 

 
6. Following discussion, the Cabinet resolved:  
 

(a) That the comments of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee arising from the meeting on 30 April be noted; 

 
(b) That the recommendations of the Panel with regard to the ten supported bus 

services as outlined in paragraph 16 of the report be approved; 
 

(c) That the changes at (b) above be implemented during the current financial year, 
as the bus contracts for each service come up for renewal; 
 

(d) That the Director of Environment and Transport be requested to monitor, on an 
annual basis, the development and effectiveness of the Community Bus 
Partnerships proposed for certain routes and report as necessary to the 
Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Cabinet. 

 
Background 
 
Community Bus Partnerships 
 
7. The CBP concept derives from the successful community rail partnerships that are 

now well established in parts of the country.  A CBP focuses on a specific bus route 
and, working together, partners aim to improve the bus service, with the objective of 
increased ridership to make the service more viable. 

 
8. A CBP in Leicestershire is a partnership between the County Council, the bus 

company and the local community along the route.  With regard to the local 
community this includes parish councils, current and potential bus users, interested 
shops, pubs, health services, rural businesses, schools and visitor attractions.  

 
9. The partnership has responsibility for monitoring the service, looking at the 

opportunities to promote the service and adjust the service so that it meets local 
needs.  A local ‘friends of’ can offer opportunities for wider community involvement. 
The essential, but not exclusive factor for success is to increase ridership and 
reduce the level of financial subsidy paid by the County Council. 

 
10. Such an approach takes time to be developed and it could be two to three years 

before results are achieved.  The Scrutiny Panel recommended that in 2014 this 
concept be pursued on a number of the existing supported bus routes, as outlined 
in paragraph 4 above, with progress being reviewed on an annual basis.  Should 
there not be sufficient growth to justify the continuing subsidy of the agreed bus 
service within existing resources, then the fall-back position would be to revert to 
the ’proposed service recommendation to consult 2013’, (see Appendix C).  

 

44



 
 

Overview of the Community Bus Partnerships 
 

11. The four CBPs were created in 2015 with an aim to increase patronage and thereby 
make the services more financially viable.  As well as being fully funded they have 
been supported by Leicestershire County Council in a number of different ways.  
Each partnership has received the support of a County Council transport officer 
throughout the duration of the project. The County Council also funded an officer 
from the Rural Communities Council (RCC) for Leicestershire and Rutland to 
support the CBPs in undertaking activities to improve and promote the services. 
The cost of the RCC support officer was £16,000 over the 3 year duration of the 
project.  

 
12. Additionally, £1,000 was made available to each CBP group for each of the three 

years to assist in improving the service through activities such as advertising and 
promotion.  Partnerships were encouraged to explore potential external sources of 
funding to add to this, such as grants, local business sponsorship or funding from 
parish councils. 

 
13. A key premise of the CBP approach was to hold regular meetings to give the 

partners the opportunity to devise and implement strategies to increase usage of 
the services.  At the start of partnership operation, attendance at partnership 
meetings was very good. However, attendance by representatives from the 
community in all the CBP groups has reduced over the duration of the partnership 
operation.  

 
14. The RCC officer facilitating the partnerships reported that the reduction in 

attendance over the duration of the partnership has been due to members having 
other commitments and a lack of wider community support.  The RCC officer also 
believes that community activity has reduced as a result of apathy within the groups 
and the assumption that the services will cease at the end of March 2018. Three of 
the groups now have a core membership of just three or four community members, 
whilst the other partnership (for service 7) is currently not meeting. 

 
15. A brief description of each service and of the mechanics of its respective CBP is 

provided below. 
 

 Service 7 - Ashby to Nuneaton via Measham and Atherstone 
 

16. Service 7 currently runs six days a week (Monday to Saturday) between Atherstone 
and Measham. In addition to these settlements, the service also serves the 
following communities: 

 Appleby Magna; 

 Snarestone; 

 Newton Burgoland; 

 Shackerstone; 

 Congerstone;  

 Twycross; 

 Sheepy Magna; 

 Witherley; and  

 Fenny Drayton. 
 

45



 
 

17. The service commenced in September 2015 and is operated by Roberts Coaches. 
It runs six times a day, on a two hourly frequency.  The service does not operate on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays.  
 

18. Prior to the creation of the CBP, the route of Service 7 was very different, with 
different start and ending points: Nuneaton and Ashby-de-la-Zouch respectively. 

 
19. The route of the service was changed because the vehicle resource available to run 

the service was reduced from two buses to one.  As a result of this reduction, the 
community members of the CBP felt that the best use of the available resource 
would be to provide a bus serving Atherstone and Measham.  However, some 
similarities remain, for instance, the service frequency was the same as it is now, 
running six times a day on a two-hourly frequency.  The route also serves many of 
the communities the original route served. The change to the route required 
additional work for the partnership in designing and registering the new route which 
resulted in a delay to the launch of the revised service. 

 
20. The partnership for service 7 has only met once over the last 12 months.  Only 

three people attended the meeting: a community representative, the representative 
of the County Council and the RCC officer facilitating the partnership. The 
partnership has subsequently been suspended as only one active member of the 
community remains.  Work is being undertaken by the RCC to encourage a new 
community group to form so that the partnership can be re-established, but so far 
this has not been successful.  

 
Service 55/56 - Melton to Grantham via Buckminster and east Leicestershire 
villages 

21. Service 55/56 is operated by Centrebus and runs between Melton Mowbray in 
Leicestershire and Grantham in Lincolnshire.  In addition to Melton Mowbray and 
Grantham, the service also serves the following communities: 

 Harlaxton:  

 Denton:  

 Harston:  

 Knipton:  

 Croxton Kerrial: 

 Saltby: 

 Waltham on the Wolds,  

 Stonesby:  

 Saltby:  

 Sproxton:  

 Buckminster:  

 Sewstern;  

 Coston: 

 Garthorpe: and  

 Saxby. 
 

22. The service operates Monday to Saturday but does not run on Sundays or Bank 
Holidays.  There are four services a day in each direction.  The service timetable for 
the CBP service was the same as that used prior to the formation of the CBP. 

 

46



 
 

23. The partnership for service 55/56 has met on a quarterly basis with around 6-8 
attendees at each meeting.  Attendees have included several members of the 
community, a representative from the bus operator (Centrebus), a representative of 
the County Council and an officer from the Rural Community Council. 
 
Service 113 - Melton to Oakham via Somerby 
 

24. Service 113 runs between Melton Mowbray and Oakham in Rutland and also 
serves the following communities within Leicestershire: 

 Little Dalby; 

 Pickwell; 

 Twyford; 

 Burrough; 

 Somerby; 

 Knossington; and 

 Cold Overton. 
 

25. The service is operated by Centrebus and operates Monday to Saturday but does 
not run on Sundays or Bank Holidays.  The 113 service timetable for the CBP 
service is the same as that used prior to the formation of the CBP.  

 
26. The partnership for service 113 has met 4-6 times a year, with around 5-7 

attendees per meeting including members of the community, representatives for the 
bus operator (Centrebus), the County Council and an officer from the Rural 
Community Council. 

 
 Service 129 - Ashby to Loughborough via Osgathorpe and Belton 
 

27. The service 129 CBP is operated by Paul S. Winson Coaches and runs between 
Ashby-de-la-Zouch and Loughborough serving the communities of: 

 Lount; 

 Newbold; 

 Peggs Green; 

 Griffydam; 

 Osgathorpe; 

 Belton; 

 Shepshed; and 

 Nanpantan. 
 

28. The service runs 6 days a week, Mondays to Saturdays, and does not run on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays (except Good Friday).  There are 5 services a day in 
each direction. 

 
29. In November 2015, during the first year of operation of the new CBP service, 

operator Paul Winson dropped part of its nearby service 4 commercial route.  In 
response, the decision was made by the CBP members that the route of the 129 
service should be amended so that it could fill in the gap left by this change. 

 
30. This has been the most successful partnership in terms of community participation, 

which has maintained good community representation throughout the duration of 
the project. The partners for the service meet around six times a year with 10-12 
attendees per meeting including several members of the community, a 

47



 
 

representative from the bus operator (Paul S Winson Coaches), a County Council 
representative, and the RCC officer who has arranged and chaired the meetings. In 
contrast to other groups, the 129 has a separate bus user group which has 
provided feedback on service operation, as well as suggestions for ways to improve 
the service and attract more users. 

 
Community Bus Partnerships Review 

 
31. The review covers service patronage and costs for each service, alongside an 

assessment of their level of achievement of CBP principles.  This is supplemented 
with the views of each member of the partnership in addition to those of the Rural 
Community Council (Leicestershire and Rutland) officer, who has supported the 
delivery of the partnerships.  Travel behaviour surveys have also been undertaken 
to understand user type and journey purpose. 

 
32. The role of the RCC’s CBP support officer has primarily been to support the local 

volunteers in planning and undertaking a variety of tasks aimed at improving the 
bus services. This has included activities such as consultation to determine what 
changes would enable more people to use the service and marketing/promotions to 
make people aware of the service. 

 
33. Reports outlining the work that has been undertaken by the CBPs and the 

patronage achieved were prepared by the RCC’s CBP support officer at the end of 
the first and second years of the project. The first year report provided a brief 
overview of the work undertaken up to that point as well as outlining some of the 
issues initially experienced by the groups.  The second year report is more 
extensive and provides details of some of the barriers which were collectively 
experienced by the partnerships, particularly from the point of view of the 
community partners. Both reports have been useful in preparing this review of the 
CBP services operating in Leicestershire. The draft second year report is provided 
as Appendix D. 

 
 Review methodology 

 
34. The key objectives of Leicestershire’s CBPs are to: 
 

 Increase patronage levels; and 

 Reduce service subsidy. 
 
35. These objectives were subsequently outlined within the CBP contracts between 

Leicestershire County Council and the bus operators.  
 
36. It should be noted that although increasing patronage and thereby reducing subsidy 

was described as an essential factor for success it was suggested that this would 
not be the exclusive way in which the success or otherwise of the partnerships 
would be judged.  Other key principles for a successful operation of a Community 
Bus Partnership which were outlined included: 

 

 Specific branded service/corridor; 

 Partnership between the Local Authority, Bus Operator and the local community 
to oversee the service and set targets; 

 Dedicated bus company representative;  

48



 
 

 Incremental development over a period of time; 

 ‘Friends of the Route’ and/or other community involvement; 

 High customer service standards; 

 Creative and inventive involvement; 

 Raising the profile and promotion of bus services within the community; and 

 Professional officer support. 
 

37. Overall therefore, the CBP have been evaluated on 3 criteria: 
 

i. Whether the patronage of the CBP service has increased; 
ii. Whether the level of subsidy for the CBP service has decreased; and 
iii. Whether the principles of a successful CBP service have been achieved. 

 
 Review Approach 
 
38. The approach used to review the four CBPs using the three criteria is detailed 

below:- 
 

i. Patronage 
 

Patronage for each of the four CBP services has been analysed to 
determine whether or not their creation has resulted in an increase in 
passenger numbers. Patronage figures for each service prior to 2015/16, 
when the CBPs were established, were compared with figures since the 
partnerships were set up.  

 
ii. Service cost 

 
The level of funding support provided by the County Council has been 
analysed alongside patronage data in order to determine whether or not 
there had been a change in the subsidy per passenger journey, i.e. the cost 
to the Council of providing the service divided by the total number of trips. 
Subsidy per passenger journey was calculated based on net contract cost 
data (the gross cost minus any fare revenue coming back to the Council) 
and the latest available patronage data. 

 
iii. Community Bus Partnership Principles 

 
The nine key principles for Community Bus Partnerships as outlined in 
paragraph 36 were considered as factors to indicate success, in addition to 
an increase in patronage and reduction in subsidy.  These were rated on a 
score of low, medium and light by the RCC officer. 

  
iv. Views of partners and users 

 
In addition to the three review criteria which are outlined above the views of 
each of the partners of the CBPs have been sought. Each stakeholder 
within the CBP was given a survey containing a series of questions to find 
out their views on how the CBPs had worked over the past two years, as 
well as their thoughts on the future of the CBP they are involved with.  

 

49



 
 

39. Travel behaviour surveys have also been carried out on all of the CBP services to 
understand travel behaviour on them.  

 
40. The outcomes of the review for each service are fully detailed in Appendix  

E and summarised below. 
 
Summary of CBP Performance 
 
41. The performance of each CBP is summarised below with more detailed information 

provided in Appendices D, E and F. 
 

i. Service 7 
 

 Has patronage of the CBP service increased? 
 
Substantial changes were made to the route of Service 7 when it became a 
CBP and consequently it is not possible to compare the pre-CBP patronage 
with that after. Analysis of patronage data since the service became a CBP 
shows it has increased from 13,538 (2015/16) to 17,967 (2017/18). 
However, it is difficult to determine whether the growth observed is as a 
result of the service becoming established, the work being carried out by 
the CBP to promote the service or a combination of the two. 
 
Has the level of subsidy for the CBP service decreased? 
 
It is not possible to carry out a before and after CBP comparison of subsidy 
levels because of the significant changes made to the bus route when the 
CBP was established. However, subsidy has decreased from £9.35 per 
passenger journey (2015/16) to £6.93 (2017/18), but this is still relatively 
high in comparison to other bus services supported by the council. 
 
Have the principles of a successful CBP service been achieved? 
 
There has only been limited achievement of the principles of a successful 
CBP and therefore the service scored a low CBP principles rating.  

 
ii. Service 55/56 

 
Has patronage of the CBP service increased? 
 
Patronage for service 55/56 has not increased as a result of it becoming a 
CBP. Usage of the service has shown a decline from 18,854 (2015/16) to 
17,211 (2017/18). 
 
Has the level of subsidy for the CBP service decreased? 
  
The subsidy per passenger journey has increased since the CBP was 
created in 2015/16. Between 2015/16 and 2017/18 the subsidy has 
increased from £5.39 to £5.93 per passenger journey. 
 

50



 
 

Have the principles of a successful CBP service been achieved? 
 
The majority of CBP principles received a medium or high rating for 
achievement, suggesting that the CBP has been moderately successful in 
achieving the principles of a successful CBP. The service received a 
medium CBP principles rating overall. 

 
iii. Service 113 

 
Has patronage of the CBP service increased? 
 
There has been a slight decline in usage for this service from 8000 
(2015/16) to 7624 (2017/18). 
 
 Has the level of subsidy for the CBP service decreased? 
 
Between 2015/16 and 2017/18 the subsidy per passenger journey has 
increased from £14.92 to £15.54. This is significantly higher than the other 
CBP’s. 
 
Have the principles of a successful CBP service been achieved? 
 
The majority of CBP principles received a medium or high rating for 
achievement, suggesting that there has been a degree of success in 
achieving the principles of a successful CBP. The service received a 
medium CBP principles rating overall. 

 
iv. Service 129 

 
Has patronage of the CBP service increased? 
 
Patronage for Service 129 has risen steadily in each year it has operated as 
a CBP. Patronage for 2017/18 is currently at 35,272; some 18% higher than 
it was in 2015/16 at 29,714. 
 
Has the level of subsidy for the CBP service decreased? 
 
The subsidy per passenger journey has steadily decreased from £2.59 in 
2015/16 to its current £2.00. 
 
Have the principles of a successful CBP service been achieved? 
 
The majority of CBP principles received a medium or high achievement 
rating suggesting that the partnership has had a degree of success in 
achieving the principles of a successful CBP. The service received a 
medium CBP principles rating overall. 

51



 
 

 
42. Table 13 provides an overview performance summary for each of the CBP’s.   

 
Table 13 Summary of Performance of all CBP’s 
 Service 7 Service 55/56 Service 113 Service 129 

Patronage 
Trend 

15/16: 13,538 
17/18: 17,967 
 

15/16: 18,854 
17/18: 17,211 

15/16: 8,000 
17/18: 7,624 

15/16: 29,714 
17/18: 35,272 

Net Cost 
15/16 and 
17/18 

15/16: £126,541 
17/18: £124,540 

15/16: £101,586 
17/18: £102,094 

15/16: £119,364 
17/18: £118,495 

15/16: £76,975 
17/18: £70,554 

Subsidy per 
journey 
15/16 and 
17/18 

15/16: £9.35 
17/18: £6.93 

15/16: £5.39 
17/18: £5.93 

15/16: £14.92 
17/18: £15.54 

15/16: £2.59 
17/18: £2.00 

CBP 
Principles 
rating 

Low Medium Medium Medium 

Survey 
Feedback 

On all services the majority of users are over 60, retired and use the 
services for shopping purposes. 

 
Views of Partnership Members 

 
43. The views of each partnership member (Community representative, bus operator 

and Leicestershire County Council officer) were sought on the performance of each 
service. These are detailed in Appendices D and E and briefly summarised below. 

  
44. For services 7, 55/56 and 113 the comments of the partnership members were 

comparable. Community representatives felt that the services would not be viable 
without continued County Council support. Bus operators were of the view that the 
CBP arrangement did not work well nor attracted additional users and felt that 
overall it is not viable without continued financial support from the County Council. 
Representatives of the County Council considered that the services were not 
operating well in their current form and required changes, but would not be 
sustainable without continued County Council support. 

 
45. For service 129, the views were more positive with community representatives keen 

to expand the service and see the CBP as a long term project. The County Council 
opinion was that a conventional bus service was the most cost effective option and 
the bus operator said they would consider continuation, but only on a contracted 
basis. 

 
Passenger Transport Policy 
 
46. The CBPs were developed and have been operated under the County Council’s 

current supported bus network policy approved by the Cabinet at its meeting in 
September 2013. 

 
47. At the meeting of the County Council in February 2017, it was announced that the 

authority would be looking at ways to achieve better value for money in the way that 
it financially supports passenger transport services. To inform how this might be 
achieved, officers are currently working on the development of a new Passenger 
Transport Policy (PTP). 

 

52



 
 

48. It is currently anticipated that consultation on a draft policy will take place in 
spring/summer 2018, subject to Cabinet approval.  Views on the proposed policy 
will be sought from the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee as part of the consultation exercise. 

 
49. Adoption of an agreed policy is anticipated in autumn 2018 with full implementation 

from 1 April 2019. The period between adoption and full implementation will allow 
existing supported passenger transport services, including those covered by CBPs, 
to be reviewed against any agreed new policy. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
50. The new PTP is currently being developed.  The provisional Medium Term Financial 

Strategy 2018/19 to 2021/22 includes a proposal for £400,000 savings arising from 
the new PTP. 

 
51. In order that the CBPs can be fully assessed against the new PTP, an operational 

decision has been taken to extend all tendered bus service contracts including the 
CBP contracts, under the Director’s delegated powers, until June 2019.  This will 
allow for the development and consultation on the new PTP during 2018.  This 
additional time could provide opportunities for those CBP services that are currently 
not performing well to make improvements to their patronage and value for money. 
The views on the proposed policy will be sought from the Environment and 
Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee as part of the consultation exercise. 

 
52. The Director of Corporate Resources and the County Solicitor have been consulted 

on the contents of this report. 
 

Timetable for Decisions 
 
53. The timetable for decisions is as follows: 
 

i.   Report on CBP performance and the proposed new PTP to be presented 
to Cabinet on 9 March 2018. 

 
ii.  A public consultation will be carried out from March 2018 to June 2018 

with a consultation update being presented to Environment and Transport 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 31 May 2018.  A full report on the 
new PTP, taking into account the consultation feedback, will be presented 
to the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
September 2018 and then taken to Cabinet for approval in November 
2018. 

 
Conclusions and Next Steps 

 
54. This review has established that there is no conclusive evidence over the three 

years of operation that the Community Bus Partnership approach achieves the 
original objective of making a bus service more financially viable. 

  
55. Other than the service 129, which is now operating at £2.00 subsidy per passenger 

journey, the remaining services are operating at a relatively high subsidy per 
journey with service 113 having a significantly high subsidy per passenger journey 
at £15.54.  It is debatable that these offer value for money. 

53



 
 

 
56. There is also no evidence to suggest that the CBPs would not achieve the same 

performance if operated purely as a contracted bus service due to commercial 
withdrawals. 

 
57. The CBPs were developed and have operated under the County Council’s current 

supported bus policy.  As outlined earlier in this report, work is currently being 
undertaken to develop a new Passenger Transport Policy, to help to ensure that the 
authority is achieving value for money in the support that it provides to passenger 
transport services.  

 
58. It is currently anticipated, subject to any consultation and relevant approvals, that a 

new PTP be fully implemented from April 2019.  Views on the proposed policy will 
be sought from the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
as part of a public consultation exercise. 

 
59. In order that the CBPs can be fully assessed against the new PTP, an operational 

decision has been taken to extend all tendered bus service contracts including the 
CBP contracts, under the Director’s delegated powers, until June 2019.  This will 
allow for the development and consultation of a new PTP during 2018 and could 
provide opportunities for those CBP services that are currently not performing well 
to make improvements to their patronage and value for money.  

 
60. Flexibility will be afforded to all of the CBPs for them to consider how they wish to 

continue their services prior to finalising the contract extensions.       
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
Mr. J Orson CC – Melton Wolds 
Mrs. P Posnett MBE CC – Melton East 
Mr. A Pearson CC – Melton West 
Mr. I Ould CC – Market Bosworth 
Mr. D Harrison CC – Ibstock and Appleby 
Mr. S Sheahan CC – Forest and Measham 
Mr. J Miah CC – Loughborough East 
Mr. T Parton CC – Loughborough South 
Mr. J Morgan CC – Loughborough South West 
Mr. M Hunt CC – Loughborough North West 
Mrs. C Radford CC - Shepshed 
Mr. N Rushton CC - Valley 
Mr. J Coxon CC – Ashby de la Zouch 
Mr. B Rhodes CC - Belvoir 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers – Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7000  
Email: ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk   
 
Ian Vears – Interim Assistant Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7966 
Email: ian.vears@leics.gov.uk    

 

54

mailto:ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:ian.vears@leics.gov.uk


 
 

List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Second report of the Scrutiny Review Panel on the County Council’s 

95% Bus Coverage Policy 2013 
Appendix B – Service specific recommendations reported within Scrutiny Review 

Panel Reports in 2014. 
Appendix C – Scrutiny Review Panel Service Deliberations - 2013  
Appendix D – Community Bus Partnership Pilot Project - 2 Year Report 
Appendix E –  Community Bus Partnership Review   
Appendix F –  Leicestershire bus passenger survey - 2017 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
61. There are no Equality and Human Rights Implications as a result of this report. It is 

recommended that an assessment is carried out on potential implications to equality 
and human rights once a decision has been made on the future of the Community 
Bus Partnerships in line with the new PTP when it is in place 

 
Environmental Impact 

 
62. No environmental implications have been identified arising from this report. As and 

when any decisions are taken forward the County Council will seek to work with any 
other relevant bodies to ensure that any necessary Environmental Impact 
Assessments are completed. 

 
 
 
 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

 

SECOND REPORT OF THE SCRUTINY REVIEW PANEL ON THE 
COUNTY COUNCIL’S 95% BUS COVERAGE POLICY 2013 

 
B. Revised Policy on the Supported Bus Network 
 
18. The Panel is recommending that the following be adopted as the future 

policy:- 
 

a)  The County Council will seek to meet the essential transport needs of 
  Leicestershire residents through the provision of transport solutions; 

 
b)  The delivery of these transport solutions will be subject to periodic tests 

  on levels of use and affordability and value for money; 
 
c)  Passenger transport will be provided by a mix of conventional bus  

  services for higher demand areas, supplemented by provision of less 
  frequent services by minibuses and taxi type vehicles (in areas of low 
  usage); 

 
d)  Fares on all services will be broadly comparable with the fares charged 

  on commercial bus services. 
 
19.  Essential transport needs of residents are defined as follows (all subject to a 

test around value for money): 
 • Shopping and Personal Business; 

•  Healthcare; 
 •  Social Activity and Wellbeing; 
 •  Work. 
 
20.  Other needs such as providing access to training and education, tackling 

congestion and reducing carbon emissions, will be met wherever possible, but 
would not be classified as priorities when determining the commissioning and 
design of transport provision. The type of transport solution provided would be 
on the basis of value for money and affordability in proportion to identified 
demand. 

 
21.  The Panel noted that the proposed policy set out above had a strategic fit with 

the Local Transport Plan 3. The LTP3 identifies six overall priorities, three of 
which are relevant when considering public transport, viz:- 

 
• Supporting the local economy; 
•  Encouraging active and sustainable travel; 
•  Improving connectivity and accessibility. 

 

57



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 

 

Service Specific Recommendations made by the Scrutiny Review Panel in 
2014 
 
The service specific recommendations made by the Scrutiny Review Panel in 2014 
for each CBP were as follows:- 

 
 Service 7 – Ashby to Nuneaton via Measham and Atherstone 

 
a) Two hourly bus service between Measham and Atherstone and Demand 

Responsive Transport to villages not on this or other bus routes. 
b) This service will be developed as a CBP with a view to increase in 

patronage and reduce the level of subsidy to targets identified by the 
council; 

c) Engagement with the local community to enable detailed management and 
better targeting of the service to meet the essential needs of the 
community. 
 

 This will ensure: 
 

a) Many access needs raised by consultation are met; 
b) Substantial savings; 
c) Concerns regarding access to work and education facilities are 

addressed; 
d) Connections to other services are possible; 
e) An increased frequency for those settlements retaining a bus service. 

 
 The proposal will however mean: 
 

a) Not all villages along the original route will be served; 
b) Compromise is required, due to passengers along the route having 

competing priorities; 
c) Staff time will be required to work with the community. 

 
Service 55/56 – Melton to Grantham via Buckminster and east Leicestershire 
villages 

 
a) No change to current provision, as the cost savings arising from a change 

will be minimal, but a partnership approach is agreed in order to improve 
value for money; 

b) This service will be developed as a CBP with a view to increase in 
patronage and reduce the level of subsidy to targets identified by the 
council; 

c) Engagement with the local community to enable detailed management and 
better targeting of the service to meet the essential needs of the 
community. 

 
 Service 113 – Melton to Oakham via Somerby 
 

a) Retention of existing service; 

59



b) This service will be developed as a CBP with a view to increase in 
patronage and reduce the level of subsidy to targets identified by the 
council; 

c) Engagement with the local community to enable detailed management and 
better targeting of the service to meet the essential needs of the 
community. 

 
 This will ensure: 
 

a) Provision of service at peak times for workers; 
b) Provision of service specifically tailored to the needs of scholars at Long 

Field Academy in Melton Mowbray; 
c) The creation of the partnership continues to build upon the positive 

engagement between the County Council and the local communities; 
d) The community has the maximum chance of securing long-term bus based 

public transport provision by giving it the opportunity to influence the 
management, operation and performance of the service. 

 
 Service 129 – Ashby to Loughborough via Osgathorpe and Belton 

 
a) Retention of existing service; 
b) This service will be developed as a CBP with a view to increase in 

patronage and reduce the level of subsidy to targets identified by the 
council; 

c) Engagement with the local community to enable detailed management and 
better targeting of the service to meet the essential needs of the 
community. 
 

 This will ensure: 
 

a) All concerns raised by consultation are met; 
b) Concerns regarding access to work, health and education facilities are 

addressed; 
c) Opportunity to build on a growing service; 
d) The Ashby – Loughborough connection is maintained. 

 

60



APPENDIX C 

Scrutiny Review Panel Service Deliberations – 2013 

 

Service 55/56 

Melton to Grantham 

 

Key Facts regarding current provision 

• Annual net contract cost - £59,813 

• Average No. of passengers carried per journey – 8 

• Subsidy per passenger journey - £3.12 

 

Current bus service provision  

A bus service operating to rural villages between Melton and Grantham with a two-

hourly frequency 

(approximately). 

 

Proposed Service Original Consultation 

A DRT service to provide services from Buckminster, Coston, Garthorpe, Saltby, 

Sewstern, Sproxton and Stonesby off peak to Melton Mowbray from Monday to 

Saturday.  A two-hourly bus service, operating between Melton and Grantham for the 

villages of Harston and Knipton  (see 23/24/25 consultation). 

 

Proposed service Recommendation to Consult 2013 

• A bus service between Melton and Grantham aligned with school times, serving all 

villages on the current route. 

• An off-peak bus service to Melton on Tuesdays (market day), serving Coston; 

Saltby; Buckminster; Sewstern; Sproxton, Stonesby, Garthorpe and Saxby. 

• Lincolnshire County Council’s CallConnect demand responsive services to 

Grantham, available to: Knipton, Harston, Saltby, Stonesby, Sproxton, Buckminster, 

Sewstern and Coston. 

• A DRT service for the villages of Freeby, Saxby and Garthorpe to Melton Mowbray 

off peak on Tuesday, Thursday and Saturday. 

61



Service 7 

Ashby to Nuneaton via Measham and Atherstone 

 

Key Facts regarding current provision 

• Annual net contract cost – £177,810 

• Average No. of passengers carried per journey – 13 

• Subsidy per passenger journey - £3.87 

 

Current bus & DRT service provision 

Two-hourly service between Ashby-de-la-Zouch and Nuneaton. 

D36 Shackerstone to Congerstone to connect with bus service 7 off peak Tuesday 

and Saturday. 

D37 Shackerstone, Bilstone, Congerstone & Carlton (part) off peak to Market 

Bosworth Tues & Sat. 

 

Proposed Service Original Consultation 

The replacement of the existing bus service with four off peak DRT services to 

cover:- 

• Sheepy Magna, Sheepy Parva, Sibson, Ratcliffe Culey, Witherley and Fenny 

Drayton (to Atherstone Monday, Tuesday, Thursday and Friday and to Nuneaton on 

Tuesday); 

• Bilstone, Congerstone, Shackerstone, Twycross, Norton-Juxta-Twycross and 

Odstone (to Atherstone Monday to Friday and to Market Bosworth on Monday and 

Wednesday); 

• Swepstone and Newton Burgoland (to Coalville on Tuesday and Thursday and to 

Ashby via Measham on Monday, Wednesday and Friday); and 

• Snarestone, Appleby Magna, Packington and Measham (part village) (to Ashby 

Monday to Saturday). 

 

Proposed service Recommendation to Consult 2013 

Consultation on three options:- 

A) Bus service on current route operated to a reduced frequency (four hourly). 

B) Bus service covering the route specified above except Congerstone and Bilstone. 

Extend existing DRT (D36) from Shackerstone to these villages to link to bus service 

at Twycross 

C) Bus service with an amended route (Ashby – Measham – Market Bosworth – 

Atherstone – Nuneaton) with reduced frequency (four hourly) and provide a DRT for 

Newton Burgoland and Swepstone to Coalville and Ashby and Congestone and 

Bilstone as B) above. 

All options retain current D37 

62



Service 113 

Melton to Oakham via Somerby 

 

Key Facts regarding current provision 

• Annual net contract cost – £65,292 

• Average No. of passengers carried per journey – 2.6 

• Subsidy per passenger journey - £6.34 

 

Current bus service provision  

A bus service operating to rural villages between Melton and Oakham with an 

approximate two-hourly frequency. 

 

Proposed Service Original Consultation 

The replacement of the existing bus service with off peak DRT services to cover: 

• Little Dalby, Pickwell, Somerby, Burrough on the Hill, Leesthorpe to Melton on 

Tuesday and Wednesday and Oakham on Friday; 

• Knossington, Cold Overton to Oakham on Friday; 

• Twyford, Thorpe Satchville, John O’Gaunt to Melton on Monday, Tuesday, 

Wednesday and Saturday. 

 

Proposed Service Recommendation to Consult 2013 

The replacement of the existing bus service with DRT services to cover: 

• Little Dalby, Pickwell, Somerby, Burrough on the Hill, Leesthorpe to Melton 

Tuesday to Saturday & to Oakham on Monday, Wednesday and Friday; 

• Knossington, Cold Overton to Oakham to Melton on Tuesday and to Oakham on 

Monday, Wednesday and Friday; 

• Twyford, Thorpe Satchville, John O’Gaunt to Melton on Tuesday, Thursday and 

Saturday & to Oakham on Monday, Wednesday and Friday. 

Extensions of the school transport network to include Somerby and Burrough on the 

Hill, and of the Little Dalby area DRT to Melton for identified employment related 

journeys while work is undertaken with employers to find alternative means of travel. 

63



Service 129 

Ashby to Loughborough via Osgathorpe and Belton 

 

Key Facts regarding current provision 

• Annual net contract cost – £73, 843 

• Average No. of passengers carried per journey – 6 

• Subsidy per passenger journey - £4.23 

 

Current bus service provision  

A two-hourly bus service operating between Ashby De La Zouch and Loughborough 

 

Proposed Service Original Consultation 

The replacement of the existing bus service with off peak DRT services to cover: 

• Griffydam, Osgathorpe and Belton (to Loughborough Monday to Saturday); and 

• Worthington and Newbold (to Coalville on Monday, Thursday and Friday and to 

Castle Donington on Monday) 

 

Proposed Service Recommendation to Consult 2013 

The replacement of the existing bus service with DRT services to cover: 

• Griffydam, Osgathorpe and Belton to Loughborough including village links and 

Ashby as destination once a week. 

Bus service to Coalville and Castle Donington see 155 service (for details see 

appendix 8) for Worthington and Newbold. 

64



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leicestershire County Council 

 

Community Bus Partnership Pilot Project 
 

2 Year Report 

 

 

What have we learnt so far? 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Llynda Baugh BA DipHE 

Community Bus Partnership Support Officer 

cbp@ruralcc.org.uk 

November 2017  

APPENDIX D
65



 
 

Index 

Introduction to the project 
 

1 

Aims of the project  
 

1 

Processes 
 

2 

Community powers/responsibility 
 

3 

Proposed support and limitations 
  

3 

The groups themselves  
 

4 

Achievements 
 

4 

Groups meeting each other 
 

5 

Partnership group and pilot limitations  
 

6 

Needs of the partnership groups  
 

7 

The perspective from the bus companies  
 

8 

What the surveys say   
 

9 

Additional comments in the survey 
 

10 

Passenger usage over the first two years  
 

11 

Changes in relation to activity 
 

12 

The project experience for groups 
 

12 

How the groups see the future 
 

13 

Group plans for year 3 
 

14 

Have the proposed outcomes of the pilot 
been achieved? 
 

14 

What have we learnt? 
 

15 

66



1 
 

Introduction to the project   
 
In Early 2014, as part of LCC’s Medium Term Financial Strategy to reduce council spending, a 
review of existing Local Bus Service policy was carried out.  The new Policy was to be based on 
essential needs and value for money. Original proposals centred around a demand responsive 
transport delivery model, however, following consultation on the proposed changes to 
Leicestershire’s supported bus network, the County Council’s Cabinet resolved to implement 
Community Bus Partnerships (CBP’s) on four routes in the county. These changes were approved 
in May 2014 and the services specified were:  

· Service 7 – Measham to Atherstone   

· Service 55/56 – Melton to Grantham   

· Service 113 – Melton to Oakham   

· Service 129 – Ashby to Loughborough   

The concept of CBPs came from the successful Community Rail Partnerships operating across the 
UK, which, through improving services, marketing and station facilities, have secured the future of 
rural rail services.    

The idea of the four Leicestershire CBPs was that together, the local community, bus operator and 
local authority would try to increase the use of a specific bus service. The partnership would focus 
on the whole route, examining ways of improving the service and encouraging increased usage, 
ultimately making it more financially sustainable in the long term.   

Each CBP would be a partnership between Operator, Local Authority and the community to 
oversee the service.  

Aims of the project  
 
The overarching aims of the pilot project were to create Community Bus Partnerships (CBP) for 
bus service routes 7, 55/56, 113, and 129 with the key objective to increase in passenger usage 
enabling retention of a bus service.  Increased usage will lead to increased revenue, which will 
improve ‘value for money’ of the service.  
 
Additionally it was hoped that the partnerships would perhaps aim to, among other things:  
 
· Attract visitors to the area.   

· Link to larger centres.  

· Contribute to viability of local communities.   

· Incremental improvement over time.   

67



2 
 

The central tenet of the CBP is that it would operate as a partnership between Operator, Local 
Authority and the community to oversee the service.  CBPs offered the chance to work together to 
develop sustainable transport solutions for the community. It was a pilot of a new way of working 
for LCC offering the opportunity for community co-design of a service.  

Its features would be that it had:   

•Strong emphasis on community involvement and setting targets.   

•Based on trust.   

•Specific to a bus corridor.   

•Having both formal and informal elements.   

•Supported by professionals.   

CBPs are a real opportunity for communities to influence service delivery and, ultimately, 
determine their success.  

Processes  

Setting up and groups:  
An inaugural meeting, proposing the concept to the affected routes, was held in October 2014 and 
was well attended.  Follow up events in each of the four localities were held throughout 
December 2014 and again in January 2015 and each of the groups formed an official partnership 
core group in time for the new bus contracts to be in place by the end of March 2015.  

This required extra work for the No 7 CBP who had to design and register a new route as part of 
the existing offer in time for the new contract. This was due to the fact that the route was 
shortened considerably ahead of the pilot and had a major impact on the launch of this route.  

Bus Contracts:  
In order to accommodate this new way of working, a new style of contract was drawn up between 
LCC and the operators. This contract places additional requirements on operators over and above 
the usual expectations for a contracted Local Bus Service.   

The requirements include : 

· A high standard of customer care training for drivers on the route  
· A small pool of drivers to ensure familiarity with the route and customers  
· Attendance at up to four CBP meetings and up to three public events by a company 

representative who has the appropriate level of operational and management experience 
to be able to engage fully with the partnership by offering advice and support.  

· Ability for members of the partnership to contact an operator representative and an LCC 
transport officer.   

· Expectations for dealing with complaints and enquiries.  

68



3 
 

Community powers/responsibility 
 
The CBP’s are not formally constituted groups but partnerships, based on trust between the three 
major members: the community, the bus operators and LCC.  It is LCC who hold the contracts with 
the commercial bus companies; however, in consultation with the operator and LCC, communities 
are able to consider changes to the route, timetable or fares in order to improve the service. 
There are a number of things that the partnership is encouraged to consider before making any 
changes:  

· Significant changes to the route or timetable will need to be consulted upon and 
alternative transport arrangements made for any settlements which are left unserved or 
with a reduced level of service as a result of a decision by the partnership.  

· Any changes to a Local Bus Service have to be registered with the Traffic Commissioner 
with a period of 56 days notice and incur an administration fee.  

· It usually takes a while for the impact of service changes to be reflected in usage levels and 
sufficient time should be given to allow monitoring of any service adjustment.  

· Regular changes to a service are not advised as industry research suggests that frequent 
service alterations create uncertainty for passengers and ultimately result in a decline in 
patronage.  

· The operator and LCC will be able to advise on any operational or regulatory constraints 
and the likely impacts of changes to the service.  

In addition, the community members of the partnerships, in consultation with the operator and 
LCC are welcome to consider changes to the branding, publicity and promotion of the service. Any 
changes will obviously need to be communicated to users of the service which the LCC officer and 
operator will be able to advise on.    

Proposed support and limitations  

Financial support 
Extra resource was put into the CBP routes by retaining the bus service rather than switching to 
Demand Responsive Transport.  

A pot of funding of £1000 per group was made available as match funding for expenditure such as 
advertising and promotion along their route and the partnerships are encouraged to explore 
opportunities for external sources of funding such as grants, local business sponsorship or Parish 
Councils. It is the responsibility of the partnership to identify ways of funding activities of the CBP, 
however support and advice will be available from LCC officers.    

Funding was also provided by the LCC for additional community capacity support for the groups 
delivered by RCC Leicestershire and Rutland. (£16k for the 3 years of the project).  

Officer resource  
At the launch of the project support was provided by LCC Communities Team, Leicestershire Rural 
Partnership and Transport officers from LCC as well as support from elected members and senior 
officers. As the groups became more established, officers support was gradually withdrawn 
however it was agreed that each partnership would be supported by an LCC officer and a 
representative from the bus operators.  Communities team officers would remain involved from a 

69



4 
 

strategic point of view and to manage capacity contracts.  Transport team would continue to liaise 
with the groups directly.  

Other resource: A dedicated section on the www.leicestershirecommunities.or.uk website was 
created and given over to the CBP’s to use as they wish.  This website is administered by the LCC 
communities’ team but can be edited by the groups or support officers.  

The groups themselves  

Surprisingly, the groups consist mostly of members who do not regularly use the buses they are 
supporting.  This is not entirely true of the 129 as they hold both a core and a user group meeting.  
This non-user majority suggests a philanthropic approach of members to their community.  
Groups generally meet monthly and are similar in their approach.  The agenda consists of 
passenger numbers, ideas for passenger increase, changes from LCC that might impact on the 
service, and the quality of the service being experienced (i.e. late buses and passenger 
complaints).  Meetings are held in one location and so tend to attract people from that particular 
village though some do travel in.  One group has tried to use different locations but this has not 
been successful due to the practicalities of advertising where the meeting is taking place. 

Achievements 

Early in the project, groups used their high hopes and enthusiasm to plan activities to promote the 
service and consider small changes that could make the service their own.  An example of this is 
that a group of older people stated that the seat in the bus shelter was too low for them to use.  
Members of that CBP took it upon themselves to make the seat higher, repainted it and made if fit 
for purpose. Over the course of two years they have had many more achievements.  Separately, 
they came up with similar ideas of holding launches, looking at branding and working with local 
businesses to promote the service. Having a support officer that attended all of the group 
meetings, enabled them to look at what was working successfully elsewhere so that it could be 
replicated.  

Surveys 
It wasn’t until the end of the first year that the undertaking of surveys began.  Based on one 
survey created for the purpose, members ‘tweaked’ the questions to relate to their own route. 
Three of the groups (7, 55/56, 133) used this approach and arranged to deliver a survey to homes 
in villages along each route by volunteers or via local publications.  The return response for all 
three surveys was beyond our expectations.   

An SAE was enclosed with each survey and this may account for such a good response.  Very few 
surveys were completed online despite the web address being on the paper survey they were 
completing.  (Please see pages 9 and 10 for results) 

There were a mixture of multi choice questions and open ended questions and the latter were 
generously completed. 

 

 

70



5 
 

Branding 
Branding has been seen as an important role for the groups. Encouraging the public to recognise 
that the buses are part of a community initiative carried with it the hope that the bus was seen as 
special and that others would want to get involved.  The 55/56 and the 133 have had 
immeasurable help from the representative of the bus company which holds the contract for both 
routes.  He has created new branding for both, resulting in colourful and distinctive timetables 
and also flexible-use branding for buses. The 55/56 became known as The Little Viking to 
represent the historic Viking Way footpath running along part of the route.  The 133 used a dog to 
reflect the roving nature of the Countrysider bus.  The dog character was later to be renamed as 
‘Buster’ through a school competition.  The No 7 created new branding by naming the bus route 
‘Our Number 7’(which attached some ownership) and also had a promotional pop up banner 
made.   

 

 

 

 

Launch Events 
The 55/56 and 113 service routes also held launch events and invited local people to find out 
more about the individual partnerships, to ask questions and to meet the group.  Centre bus also 
arranged for a bus to be on site.  There were refreshments available and a cake in the shape of a 
bus.  Whilst people did attend, sadly numbers were not high and the events did not attract much 
publicity.   Schools that had taken part in competitions did not arrive to collect their prizes. 

 

 

 

 

Signage 
There has been increased provision of timetable holders on more important stops.  Some have 
been provided by LCC with others being been paid for from each group’s own budget.  

Groups meeting each other 

In March, 2016, a joint meeting of the four CBP groups was held along with representatives of LCC 
including Ian Vears, Highways and Transport Commissioner – Head of Service. This gave groups 
the opportunity to present their own achievements, issues and concerns.  This was during a time 
of uncertainty with imminent LCC elections and potential changes in Government, but Ian was 
able to assure those present that the 3 year pilot would continue to its end, and that the work of 
the groups would feed back into any decisions made on the future of community bus services.  

71



6 
 

Representatives of all groups were in attendance and all were appreciative of the difficulty LCC 
were facing and grateful for the honesty of the statements made. 

A note on the number 129 service 
The 129 partnership (Ashby to Loughborough) has faced different circumstances to its 
contemporaries.  During its first year, it too was looking at rebranding and relaunching as the 
‘Ivanhoe Bus Line’ but this has yet to reach fruition.   In Nov 2015, one of the local operators 
dropped part of its commercial route and so it was quickly decided that the CBP route would pick 
this up.  This provided good opportunities for media coverage and immediately increased 
patronage of the service. 
 
A note on the number 7 service 
The number 7 route was a new route introduced specifically for this pilot period.  The original 
route ran from Nuneaton to Ashby – both popular shopping towns with Ashby having a number of 
tourist places to visit.  The revised route lost both of these towns with Measham and Fenny 
Drayton creating the start and end points.  This has never proved popular with travellers and the 
reinstatement of Ashby has not been possible as a commercial bus operator has now taken over 
that part of the route.  

Partnership group and pilot limitations    

A number of limitations are evident in the work of the partnerships and, ultimately, the pilot 
project: 

 Government decisions and changes in party authority within Leics CC impact on the project 
and create uncertainty 

 Desires for change by the partnership groups/users are not always possible  

 LCC budgets and manpower limitations for the maintenance and renewal of bus timetables 
at stops are out of the group’s control 

 The amount of support available from both LCC and RCC is limited 

 Competition between commercial services and CBP services is not allowed:  where some 
CBP routes have changed, commercial services have also changed to pick up those original 
passengers, the subsidised route cannot then change back while the commercial bus still 
uses that route – this has been evident on the No 7 route 

 The contracted bus companies need to comply with many restrictions, for example: width 
of road, turning areas, safe location of bus stops, drivers’ hours, traffic problems and 
occasional break downs.  All are out of the control of the partnership groups and groups 
were initially unaware of, and surprised by, these restrictions within the system 

Whilst members of the Partnership Groups are becoming aware of these limitations, the end users 
of the bus service are often totally unaware.  This point was echoed in the response from one 
contractor to our survey questions, ‘how have you influenced the partnership?’ ‘Communities will 
always want more than is possible or practical or affordable.  Our job was to listen, go away and 
look at, then report back as to what could best be done within the parameters and information 
available.’ 

Additionally, members of groups are limited by the amount of time they can give and their own 
motivations for the project. 

72



7 
 

One partnership member commented:  ‘we were surprised at the number of restrictions imposed 
as a consequence of the route being subsidised, making it difficult to be as competitive as perhaps 
we could be’.  

Needs of the partnership groups  

The greatest need of all partnership groups is to be included in the decision making process.   
There have been two particular instances where this has not happened which has resulted in a 
negative effect on the groups’ morale and motivation.  One group did not meet for six months as 
they felt undermined and disrespected due to a change made without discussion. 

It is important that groups are presented with up to date passenger figures at each meeting and 
these have always been provided. 

The groups need to know they are supported by all involved and to feel an equal partner. 

Barriers experienced by the groups 

 Time constraints on themselves as volunteers 

 Having no central point on which to focus – unlike train services that have stations that can 
be improved and give a feeling of ownership 

 Encouraging patronage from users along the route when both routes and timings do not fit 
their needs 

 Holding meetings that align with the bus timetable when none of the CBP routes operate 
later in the evenings 

 Two of the groups have been presented with petitions in response to route changes that 
were out of their control 

 The groups have had to deal with government elections and changes in legislation that 
have impacted on both the future of the project and the morale of the groups themselves 

 Usage of buses during holiday periods often show a decline in patronage giving some 
rather confusing but colourful graphs which rely on a trend result to interpret what is 
actually happening 

 It has recently come to light that some users do not understand how request stops work 

 Too few people on the groups are willing to be hands on but happy to give opinions 

 Difficulty in getting businesses to be supportive of the route by offering discounts to users 
that use their shops/pubs/service etc 

 Routes become convoluted in order to net as many passengers as possible which can put 
potential bus users off using the service 

 Certain parts of the route become ‘request only’ at certain times of the day which is 
confusing 

 Seeing the driver return back along the route empty after the last outward service of the 
day is frustrating for both partnership group members and the public 

For all services, it is clear that patronage has increased.  Two years on, the groups have begun to 
meet less with one group having lost all of its members due to lack of local support.   

73



8 
 

With activities having taken place with low participation and the uncertainty of whether it is even 
possible to keep the service despite increased patronage, groups are beginning to think about the 
possibilities of a future for the service with many factors clearly out of their control.  

From the response to the partnership group survey, three of the partnerships do not see how 
their bus use can be increased further.  They have exhausted the possible changes to the 
timetable to meet people’s needs and do not have the power to change the routes to the places 
where people say they want to go.  

The biggest question asked so far, has been ‘how much increase is needed in order to keep the 
bus safe’.  This answer was never able to be provided and so groups have nothing concrete to aim 
for, or feel like they are achieving or heading towards a goal.  It has therefore been the role of the 
support officer and LCC officers to keep the partnerships feeling positive about any noticeable 
increase in numbers. 

The perspective from the bus companies  

All three services stated that they were clear on what was expected of them as a service provider 
for the Community Bus Partnership scheme.   

All believe that their involvement has covered the requirements of their contract conditions. Their 
influence within the partnership was seen in different ways; one has provided support at every 
meeting, created new branding and either answered questions at meetings or taken queries away 
and answered them by email or at the next meeting.  Another felt that giving a good service and 
advising on timetable changes was a good source of influence, the third recognised the difficulties 
posed by the partnership system and has listened and worked well within the parameters 
available. 

All felt that their views had been taken account of with regard to requests from partnerships to 
make changes to the service.   

However, only one of the three bus companies felt that they would continue to undertake CBP 

contracts.  

 

One added, ‘The promises of local community leaders, over the potential for use, based on levels 

of need for their communities, has not materialised.   It seems inevitable to not conclude that 

most of those who complained about the potential loss came from the premise that they will be 

stuck if their car breaks down, or they can’t get a lift one day, or their house will be worth more if 

they can say that there is a regular bus service when they come to sell it.  Neither we nor 

Leicestershire County Council can offer a daily, regular service for those odd occasions and many 

would say that their local taxes should not support it either’. 

 

 

 

74



9 
 

What the surveys say (NB. the 129 did not undertake a survey) 

  7 55/56 113 

Number of responses 372 102 194 

Does the bus go to where you want to go?    (Yes response)           
 Shops 

Bank/Post office and other services 
Access to health services 

Place of work 
School/College 

Friends/relatives homes 
I’m not familiar with the route 

I don’t use the bus 

 
55.6 
37.6 
36.8 
5.4 
2.7 
15.1 
13.7 
37.4 

 
72.5 
51.0 
26.5 
11.8 
12.7 
30.4 
4.9 
26.5 

 
64.4 
44.3 
24.2 
5.2 
2.1 
14.9 
6.2 
33.5 

How often do you use the bus   
Every day 

Once or twice a week 
More than twice a week 

Once or twice a month or less often 
Infrequently 

Never 

 
2.2 
11.3 
7.3 
10.5 
33.3 
n/a 

 
10.8 
18.6 
7.8 
25.5 
n/a 
38.3 

 
1.0 
11.3 
4.6 
36.1 
n/a 
43.3 

Types of journey 
Shopping 

Travelling to and from work 
Travelling to and from education 

Visiting friends/leisure 
Health appointments 

 
46.0 
3.8 
1.6 
18.3 
25.0 

 
51.0 
9.8 
13.7 
31.4 
21.6 

 
46.4 
3.1 
1.5 
21.6 
19.6 

Rating of general provision of information  
Very good 

Good 
Poor 

Don’t know 

 
8.3 
34.4 
20.7 
28.8 

 
13.7 
45.1 
19.6 
20.6 

 
10.3 
42.8 
21.1 
21.1 

Rating of provision of bus timetables on the route 
Very good 

Good 
Poor 

Don’t know 

 
7.3 
28.0 
18.3 
39.0 

 
9.8 
36.3 
19.6 
34.3 

 
6.7 
32.0 
21.6 
34.5 

Frequency of the service 
Very good 

Good 
Poor 

Don’t know 

 
4.8 
29.6 
27.2 
30.4 

 
6.9 
37.3 
36.3 
15.7 

 
8.8 
35.1 
26.8 
23.2 

Reliability and punctuality 
Very good 

Good 
Poor 

Don’t know 

 
9.9 
39.5 
4.3 
39.5 

 
7.8 
50.0 
5.9 
33.3 

 
10.3 
39.2 
11.9 
35.1 
 
 

75



10 
 

Value of the bus fares 
Very good 

Good 
Poor 

Don’t know 

 
7.5 
26.3 
2.7 
50.5 

 
7.8 
40.2 
8.8 
38.2 

 
6.2 
23.7 
14.9 
46.9 

If you have received a pass for concessionary travel, would you 
say you use the bus  

More often 
The same 
Less often 

 
 
 
Chose 
not to   
include 

 
 
19.6 
2.6.5 
2.0 
 

 
 
17.0 
26.8 
1.0 

Are you a concessionary pass holder or a fare paying  passenger? 
CP holder 

Fare Payer 

 
50.3 
30.5 

 
Chose 
not to 
include 

 
Chose  
not to 
include 

Why don’t you make more use of the service? 
Service is not frequent enough 

Does not run when I need it 
 

Jouneys take too long 
It’s easier/more convenient by car 

It’s quicker by car 
I don’t know when it runs 

The service isn’t reliable enough 
I have difficulty getting on and off buses/to the bus stop/station 

I have difficulty accessing the bus stop/station 
Does not go directly to where I want to go 

I prefer to walk/cycle 
Anti-social behaviour from other passengers 

I do not know where the bus stop is 
I don’t know how to access a timetable 

It’s difficult to plan a journey or find out timetable information 

 
27.5 
26.3 
 

10.8 
43.3 
n/a 
14.8 
3.5 
5.9 
3.5 
36.3 
4.3 
0.5 
n/a 
9.1 
14.8 

 
42.2 
Combined 
with above 

18.6 
41.2 
32.4 
8.8 
5.9 
4.9 
n/a 
18.6 
2.9 
1.0 
4.9 
n/a 
10.8 

 
27.8 
Combined 
with above 

7.2 
54.1 
29.9 
9.3 
9.8 
4.1 
n/a 
10.3 
2.1 
0.5 
1.5 
n/a 
9.8 

Additional Comments in the survey 

Respondents were encouraged to make additional comments at the end and the themes and 
outcomes were very similar: 

Timing of the bus service 
Timing of the service was the most common concern of respondents.  Services did not coincide 
with the early use of concessionary bus passes so that a trip to the shops took up most of the day.  
For those wishing to travel to work, some could get there but not back again or the service did not 
connect with train departures.  Most bus services do not coincide with school journeys nor allow 
children to catch a bus home if they stay later at school. Some found the journeys just too slow.  
Others said they would use the bus if it ran later in the evenings.  

 

 

76



11 
 

Frequency and reliability 

Reliability of buses was an issue for some.  These people understood that vehicles do break down 
and suggestions were made that there was something put in place to alert waiting passengers of 
this problem. 

Infrequency was one of the most common stated issues.  Two hours services were not deemed 
sufficient especially when trying to connect with other bus or train services or for securing Doctor 
or dental appointments.  Shoppers found themselves with either too little time to shop or having 
to wait for very long periods before they can return home. 

Use of own car 
Many used their own cars in preference to the bus for convenience of time. 
 
Cost 
There were suggestions that concessions should be available to a wider group but there was little 
concern around the actual cost of fares. 
 
Availability of bus stops 
It was felt that there were insufficient bus stops.  Concerns came from those who had difficulty 
walking or who had to carry their shopping home from the stops.  Some, who don’t use the bus 
themselves, also commented on this in regard to their neighbours. 
 
The service as a lifeline 
For some, there is no doubt that the service is a lifeline.  For those, the bus is their only mode of 
transport.  Some commented that they would prefer an even more reduced service than none at 
all. 
 
Future need 
People in the rural areas surveyed were often thinking of their own future and a time when they 
would be in need of a service that they don’t currently use. Future illness and loss of their driving 
licence, due to age, was cited as a concern for their own future transport needs. 

Passenger usage over the first two years  

 

Annual Pax 
Journey Cost per 

Annual Pax 
Journey Cost per 

 

% Change 

 

April 2015 –  
March 2016 Pax Journey 

April 2016 - 
March 2017 Pax Journey 

 

Pax Journey Cost per Journey 

          

 

    

55/56 18433 £5.51 18204 £5.61 

 

-1.24% 1.81% 

          

 

    

129 24037 £3.02 31126 £2.49 

 

29.49% -17.55% 

          

 

    

7 12939 £9.15 16125 £7.83 

 

24.62% -14.43% 

          

 

    

113 7620 £15.57 8862 £13.06 

 

16.30% -16.12% 

          

 

    

  

77



12 
 

The following reasons are suggested for the changes in patronage for each service: 
  

 55/56  Stable passenger usage mostly supported by commercial scholar journeys into 
Grantham Schools. The CBP have worked hard on improving reliability, publicising the 
service and branding and promoting the service. Centrebus has been nominated for an 
award for their ‘Little Orange Viking’ branding and promotional material. The work of the 
CBP seems to have stopped any passenger decline but has not as yet increased average 
patronage or revenue. Unfortunately, the limited number of potential passengers, in the 
small populated areas served by the bus service, means limited potential success. 

  
 129  Increase in passenger journeys are due mostly to the service taking over the ex-

commercial route through Shepshed which is also why the cost per passenger subsidy has 
decreased significantly. An active CBP has contributed to publicity and promotion of the 
service along with the bus operator with a couple of timetable changes over the last 18 
months to replace the lost commercial service in Shepshed. 

  
 7  Whilst the CBP has been inactive over the last 12 to 18 months, the passenger journeys 

have increased. This can be simply explained as the route which was introduced, was a 
new reduced route, so it launched as a new service. With a new service, passenger growth 
is reasonably consistent in the first 2 years and the increase is just as a result of new 
service growth and the new service becoming more widely known. The CBP provided some 
sponsored timetable information across the areas served which will have boosted growth 
in the early part of the CBP.  

  
 113  New Branding (113 Countrysider) and a relaunch helped promote the existing service 

which may explain the increase in patronage. As the areas served have small populations, 
like the service 55/56 there is limited potential for new passengers but, the CBP remains 
active despite having explored all of the identified initiatives.  

Changes in relation to activity  

Member numbers have dropped in all groups.  This has been due to other commitments for the 
individuals involved or a lack of support for the group from other members of the public.  Three of 
the groups now have a core membership of just three or four which can sometimes be equal to, or 
less than, the number of officers attending.  Sadly, one of the groups (7) no longer meets and 
work is being done to encourage a new group to form.  The most successful member retention is 
for the user group of the 129. 

Activity has slowed down throughout the partnership with most avenues of promotion having 
been explored.  The lack of targets set for the project, that might have indicated success or failure, 
has led to apathy within the group and the assumption that they will end in six months time.  

The project experience for groups  

Introduced as a partnership between community, Leicestershire County Council and bus 
operators, members of the groups have increased their understanding of the way the bus 
companies operate and, in some cases, have built good relationships with regular drivers.  They 
have a better understanding of their own community’s public transport needs and of local 

78



13 
 

government processes.  They have appreciated all of the support given to them with regards to 
passenger information, usage charts and ideas for engagement with users.  However, one group 
felt disappointed that bus timetable cases have not been installed along the routes – particularly 
on those routes that have changed (even when they have agreed to pay for these from their own 
budgets).  Regular changes in staff supporting the project have affected the continuity of support.  
Relationships with bus companies have been diverse with some representatives attending all of 
their route meetings and others only doing so by request or when there is a problem.   

It is clear that everyone involved embraced this opportunity to support communities to increase 
their own bus patronage in an attempt to make the routes viable.  All groups have faced similar 
challenges: 

 For some groups, there is non- involvement of parish councils served by the route 

 Lack of community support 

 Trying to align the needs of the service for users with the practicalities and limitations of 
the contractors 

 The inability to get evening services so that people, especially young people, can go out in 
the evening and get home safely 

 Remaining motivated  

 Working with a large degree of uncertainty over what is actually required to make the 
service viable 

 Their own limited time constraints 

 The realisation that patronage is not increasing rapidly and that what users demand 
cannot be given 

 Timetable changes have been possible but cannot be aligned with other public transport 
such as trains or other bus services 

 People often have to wait for long periods to catch connecting buses or have less than an 
hour at a destination before the return or have to wait hours to get back home 

 People who live in rural areas generally need cars.  The elderly, young people etc. make up 
the small population of those who rely on public transport 

 The number 7 had to deal with a new route that was not popular with users 

 The number 7 did not have their request for new timetables to be introduced along the 
route, implemented 

Changes in LCC support staff have been disruptive.  Although a member of staff has always been 
present at meetings, it has meant that outstanding issues have not been handed over and there 
has been lack of continuity.  There have been four different personnel on some routes.  Similarly, 
there were three changes of officers from the RCC in the first six months. 

How the groups see the future  

All routes have increased patronage but the groups are aware that full fee paying users are 
required to increase income.  In some areas, the bus is used mainly by older people who have bus 
passes.  

What groups haven’t always been made aware of is the cost of the service and how the numbers 
translate into income.  Not knowing how much increase is needed to ‘save’ the bus has always 
been an issue that affects motivation and hope.  Uncertainty around the affects of election results 

79



14 
 

on austerity measures within LCC has added further to groups’ confusion.  In essence, group 
members don’t’ know if the bus is likely to be safe or if they need to keep fighting to keep it going.  

This uncertainly has had a marked affect on morale within the groups over the 6 months that has 
marked the start of the final year.  For some, it is obvious that their route has not increased 
significantly and so they are assuming the route will be cut.   

Despite all limitations, challenges and barriers, the remaining three groups still have their core 
purpose at their hearts of campaigning to keep an affordable, rural bus service in their villages.  
From the survey responses, these services are a lifeline to those who do not, or can no longer, 
drive.  Some rely on the service for their future transport needs but whether a viable bus service 
in this format can remain is unknown.  Should the service end, the partnership groups will know 
that they have done all they can to increase passengers and promote the service in the hope of 
keeping it for the future. They have suggested there could be improvement in communication 
between passengers and bus providers such as a snowline and more ‘real time’ information being 
relayed to Smartphones etc. 

Group plans for year three  

One of the groups feels that DRTs are the answer and may have some interest in remaining 
involved should this be the case.  However, this does not mean that they would want to run 
another type of transport offer.  Another has not considered what might happen as they believed 
the project to be time limited.  The third feels that their bus may continue and that if they get 
more passengers on some routes then they would need a second bus to accommodate them. The 
fourth group has ended and, whilst attempts are being made to start a new one, the value of 
doing that is currently uncertain. 

Overall, there is uncertainty and whilst the support officers attempt to guide groups through the 
process, they themselves are limited by lack of information on the plans for continued austerity 
measures within Leicestershire County Council.   

Clarification of this issue is now critical whilst there is still time and opportunity to put something 
new in place while the groups still exist. 

Have the proposed outcomes of the pilot been achieved? 

Attract visitors to the area 
It is uncertain if this has happened.  The frequency of the buses is often hourly or two hourly and 
so, for a day visitor, this may not be convenient.  One of the routes incorporates Twycross Zoo and 
another, the historic market town of Ashby-de-la-Zouch.  With some ingenuity, visitors could 
access these places using the bus and linking train service.  Attracting visitors to the area, is not a 
success of the project that has been discussed in partnership meetings but two of the groups have 
promoted the use of the bus for walkers. 
 
Link to larger centres  
Getting to larger centres is possible on all of the routes although respondents to the surveys have 
commented that they are the not the centres they wish to visit or that the frequency of the 
service is not suitable.   

80



15 
 

Contribute to viability of local communities  
It is certain that those who do not drive use the buses for medical appointments and shopping 
trips.  This allows them to live in a rural area and remain part of their familiar community.   
 
Incremental improvement over time  
All but one of the routes has increased its patronage.  The work of the partnership groups has 
enabled timetables to be changed to suit existing passengers and encourage potential new ones.  
Problems with individual services have been identified and, in many cases, have been addressed 
because of the relationship between passengers, partnership groups, transport officers and bus 
providers.   

What have we learnt?  

It takes lots of resource, time, money, capacity building, organisation (possibly more than was 
available to the groups) to deliver a successful Community Bus Partnership.  These Partnerships 
can have excellent community benefits but need to be dynamic and resilient.  

Inclusion of the groups in all of the necessary dialogue and discussions is vital to retain trust and 
ensure they feel they are part of a partnership. 

Whilst passenger figures are important, there has been little emphasis on the actual finances of 
running the service with regards to weekly cost of hiring the bus to the actual cost for each 
passenger travelling.  This is something that has not been generally discussed, if at all in some 
groups, but has a big impact on everyone’s understanding of why they are doing this. 

Successes of the partnership were recognised as the involvement of community members forming 
support groups, an increase in patronage and the effort put in by the groups with regard to 
publicity and promotion.  One bus company stated that the project had given hope to 
communities that everything was being done that could be.  For the 129, the additions made to 
the route have certainly been successful. 

This pilot was trialled after seeing the success of community rail partnerships, but there is much 
lacking in comparison.  Successfully run volunteer projects rely on feelings of ownership and group 
activity.  The buses belong to the bus companies; they are not used solely for this project 
therefore cannot have permanent branding.  There is no central place for people to gather like a 
train station.  Volunteering opportunities are limited to attendance at meetings. On the rail 
partnerships, volunteers would improve the appearance of the building, surrounding area and 
gardens using a variety of skills – all playing their part in something much larger.   

Bus journeys can be short and are often for domestic purposes – shopping, Doctors visits etc.  
Train journeys can take passengers much further allowing for a relaxed and fun experience. 

Partnership groups need a good, and constant, relationship with their representatives from LCC 
and for them to be able to provide wider information on issues that might affect the partnership’s 
work. 

The CBP pilot has evolved organically over the three years.  Some of the original targets may not 

have been fulfilled, however, other benefits such as greater understanding by the communities 

81



16 
 

involved of the complexities faced by both bus operators and LCC and the increase in community 

social action and awareness are evident.   

 

Whatever the outcome, it is important that the learning from this pilot is not lost but incorporated 

into future plans within LCC.  This will be taken into consideration by Council Policy makers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

82



APPENDIX E 
 

 

Community Bus Partnership Review 

 Review of Service 7 
 
 Patronage 
 
1. Patronage for Service 7 is outlined in Table 1 below and covers the period 

since the CBP began operating in September 2015. Substantial changes made 
to the route of the service means that patronage for the service in its present 
form cannot be compared with that before the service became a CBP because 
in essence it is an entirely new service. 

 
2. Only one full year of patronage data is available since the CBP began 

operating, 2016/17, with six months patronage data for 2015/16 and 2017/18. 
The yearly patronage figures for 2015/16 and 2017/18 have been estimated 
taking in to account total operator days and school operator days per month. 
This shows that there has been a 33% increase in passenger journeys since 
2015/16.  

Table 1: Passenger journeys 

Year Passenger journeys 

2015/161 (7,917*)  13,538*** 

2016/17 16759 

2017/182 (8,809**) 17,967*** 

Total 48,264 

 

3. The table suggests that patronage on the service is increasing. However, it 
takes time for any new bus service to establish itself and due to the limited 
amount of data (service 7 has only operated for two years so far) it is difficult to 
say with any degree of certainty whether or not the growth observed is as a 
result of the service becoming established, the work being carried out by the 
CBP to promote the service or a combination of the two. 

 
Service cost 

 
4. The service is operated under a ‘minimum cost’ contract in which the operator 

effectively agrees to hire out his vehicle and driver for an agreed sum to 
operate the specified service, with all income being passed to the County 
Council. The service has changed to such a degree since the Community Bus 
Partnership was established that it is not possible to undertake a before and 

                                                           
*Part year patronage for September to March (6 month period) 
**Part year patronage for April to September (6 month period) 
*** Estimated annual patronage 

83



APPENDIX E 
 

 

after comparison of the service, therefore changes over the period the service 
has operated as a CBP, i.e. between 2015/16 and 2017/18 have been 
analysed instead. Table 2 outlines the gross and net costs of the bus service 
over the operating period. In the three years of operation the gross cost of the 
CBP has increased slightly (0.50%) to £139,828. 

 
5. It can be seen that since 2015/16 the revenue has increased, but this can be 

expected as it is essentially a new service. Notably, between 2016/17 and 
2017/18 the revenue has remained static with only an £11 difference..  

 
6. There has been a slight overall decrease in the net cost since 2015/16 and 

likewise the subsidy per journey has decreased, however, the net cost and 
subsidy per journey has started to level out over the last two years. 

Table 2: Service cost 

Annual cost 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Gross £139,132 £139,132 £139,828 

Farebox Revenue £6,914 £9,907 £12,0853 

Concessionary 

Revenue 

£5,677 £5,370 £3,203 

Net £126,541 £123,855 £124,540 

Passenger Journeys 13,538 16,759 17,967 

Subsidy per journey £9.354 £7.39 £6.935 

 
CBP principles 

 
7. Table 3 below outlines ratings on achievement for the nine CBP principles. 

Each principle has been given a rating on an achievement scale between one 
and three, with three ticks indicating a high level of achievement of the principle 
and one tick a low level of achievement. 

 
8. The majority of the CBP principles received a poor rating for achievement, 

suggesting that there has been a limited achievement of the principles which 
were intended to be an indication of a successful CBP. 

                                                           
 
 
 

84



APPENDIX E 
 

 

Table 3: Level of achievement of CBP principles  

Service Rating Comment 

Specific branded service  No branding work undertaken 

Partnership  Changing staff, no targets to 

meet and apathy from users 

Dedicated bus company 
representative 

 Rarely attended CBP meetings 

Incremental development  People do not really like the 

route and few people engaged 

with the process. 

Community involvement  Difficult engaging community 

High customer service 
standards 

 Medium level of achievement 

Creative and inventive 
involvement 

  

Raised profile of service  Raised profile but the new route 

is not popular with residents 

Professional Officer support  Continuity issues due to staff 

changes 

= High level of achievement, = Medium level of achievement and = 

Low level of achievement 

Views of partnership members 

9. The views of the three Community Bus Partnership members in relation to the 
future of the CBP are outlined below. 

 
Community representative 

 

10. The community representative reported that the CBP bus services are never 
going to be viable. They felt that there is a need for more radical thinking about 
approaches to local transport that would address real needs with modern 
solutions. The representative did not say whether or not they wish to continue 
their involvement in the CBP project at the end of the three year period.  

 
Bus operator 

 

85



APPENDIX E 
 

 

11. The operator reported that their experience of being involved in the Community 
Bus Partnership did not back up the thoughts put forward by local councillors 
and community representatives over the potential for future growth: 

 
“Our experience of the process did not prove to us that such 

partnerships work well, if at all, in getting the bus services well 

supported by the very communities that they are saying that they 

cannot do without.” 

 
12. The current service is “uneconomical and unviable” and it may have been 

cheaper to operate Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) or a community 
transport service instead of paying to run “a dead service” for two years. 

 
Leicestershire County Council officer comments 

 

13. It was felt that the service was not working in its current form because the 
timetable is focussed on a relatively small number of passengers travelling into 
Atherstone, a journey which is duplicated by some commercial services. At 
present the service attracts low passenger numbers during peak periods. 

 
14. It was suggested that the service could be better integrated with existing 

school/college services running during peak travel times. This integration would 
reduce the current level of subsidy for the service whilst providing cost effective 
school provision, thereby reducing the expenditure on Home to School travel. 
The officer felt that the service would benefit from focussing on serving 
communities between Atherstone and Market Bosworth and offering 
connections into Leicester during the core part of the day. All villages which are 
already served by other bus services should be removed from the route so that 
the most frequent service available can be provided from the vehicle resource 
available. 

 
Review of service 55/56 
 
 Service patronage 
 
15. Patronage for Service 55/56 between 2013/14 and 2017/18 is outlined in Table 

4 below. Patronage has fluctuated over the period, peaking in 2013/14.  
Compared to that peak, there were 677 fewer in 2016/17 (the second year of 
CBP operation) - a fall of 3.6%. 

Table 4: Passenger journeys 

Year Passenger journeys 

2013/14 19,033 

2014/15 17,771 

86



APPENDIX E 
 

 

Year Passenger journeys 

2015/16 18,854 

2016/17 18,356 

2017/18*6 (5,868*) 17,211** 

Total 91,225 

 
16. Looking at the most recent usage figures available for Service 55/56 (five 

months of patronage data is available for 2017/18, between April and August), 
a total of 5,868 passenger journeys were made. The yearly patronage has been 
estimated at 17,211 based on total operator days as well as school operator 
days, which implies a further decrease compared to the peak. 

 
17. The table shows that there has been a slight downward trend in passenger 

journeys for service 55/56 since 2013/14. 
 
Service cost 

 
18. Unlike the other CBPs the 55/56 service is a minimum subsidy contract. Under 

this type of contract the contractor agrees to provide the service for an agreed 
cost and keeps all the revenue. The contract was changed from minimum cost 
to minimum subsidy in 2014/15, the year prior to the creation of the partnership.  

 
19. Table 5 outlines the gross cost of the bus service as well as the subsidy per 

passenger journey between 2014/15 and 2017/18. The revenue data for 
2013/14 is unavailable which has prevented calculating the subsidy per 
passenger journey for that year. The gross cost of providing the service 
increased by 17.4% (£15,072) when the CBP was established in 2015/16.  
Over the duration of the project the cost has increased by a further 0.5% (£508) 
to £102,094. 

 
20. The subsidy per passenger journey has increased in each successive year 

since the CBP was created in 2015/16.  
 

21. Table 5: Service cost 
 

Annual cost 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Gross/Net  £86,514 £101,586 £101,586 £102,094 

                                                           
*Part year- patronage for April to August (5 month period) 
** Estimated annual patronage 

87



APPENDIX E 
 

 

Annual cost 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Passenger 

Journeys 
17,771 18,854 18,356 17,211 

Subsidy per 

journey 
£4.87 £5.39 £5.53 £5.93 

 
 CBP Principles 
 
22. Table 6 outlines ratings given for achievement for each of the nine CBP 

principles suggested as indicators of success. The majority of achievement 
ratings for the CBP principles were medium, suggesting that there has been a 
moderate achievement of the CBP principles and therefore a degree of 
success. 

Table 6: Level of achievement of CBP principles 

Service Rating Comment 

Specific branded service  The service has been branded. 

Partnership   

Dedicated bus company 
representative 

 Regular attendance of CBP 

meetings. 

Incremental development  The group has not met for some 

time. 

Community involvement  A good sized community group. 

High customer service standards  Medium level of achievement 

Creative and inventive 
involvement 

 The bus operator representative 

has helped to create a new 

brand and service timetables. 

Raised profile of service  The new branding and 

timetables have raised the 

profile of the service. 

Professional Officer support  LCC has attended and given 

information and attended launch 

event. 

88



APPENDIX E 
 

 

= High level of achievement, = Medium level of achievement and = 

Low level of achievement 

Views of partnership members 
 
23. The views of each of the Community Bus Partnership members in relation to 

the future of the CBP are outlined below. 
 

Community representative 
 
24. Two members of the community group who have been involved in the 55/56 

CBP service provided their views on the CBP. Both community representatives 
reported that they had not thought about the future of the service; one because 
they had assumed that the project was time limited and the other because they 
were busy working on the CBP. 

 
25. One representative stated that the future of the service relied on the continued 

support of Leicestershire County Council. The other felt a service of some 
description would be required to transport students to school and college and 
hopefully the service could be extended to accommodate public users. In the 
long term they felt that the introduction of autonomous vehicles might be an 
appropriate solution. 

 
Bus operator 

 
26. The operator of the 55/56 Community Bus Partnership stated that the 

partnership has not been very successful in attracting bus users to attend CBP 
meetings. However, there have been marginal increases in patronage since the 
partnership was established. They also advised that as a commercial operator 
they would be unable to resource further Community Bus Partnerships, 
although they said they have internal processes in place to “involve the local 
community and seek their feedback” in their decision making processes. 

 
Leicestershire County Council officer comments 

 
27. It is unclear whether the CBP could be sustained beyond the 3 year period, 

unless there is a commitment by the Council to keep funding the service and 
some additional money is provided to help deliver some promotional events. 
However, it may be difficult to meet current levels of demand in a cost-effective 
way through alternative means such as Demand Responsive Transport, 
particularly given that some journeys at school times regularly carry between 20 
and 30 passengers.  
 

Review of service 113 
 

Service patronage 
 
28. Patronage for Service 113 between 2013/14 and 2017/18 is set out in Table 7. 

Patronage was highest in 2013/14 falling in both subsequent years before 
growing slightly in the second year of the CBP (2016-17). A comparison of 

89



APPENDIX E 
 

 

patronage data in 2014/15, the year before the CBP commenced operating, 
and in 2016/17, the second year of operation of the CBP, shows a drop in 
passenger numbers from 9,018 to 8,642, a fall of 376 (8.0%). 

 
29. Looking at the five month period of 2017/18 for which patronage data is 

available, there have been a total of 3,291 journeys. The yearly patronage has 
been estimated at 7,624 based on total operator days as well as school 
operator days, which implies a further decrease compared to the peak. 

 
Table 7: Passenger journeys 

 

Year 

Passenger journeys 

Total 

2013/14 11,053 

2014/15 9,018 

2015/16 8,000 

2016/17 8,642 

2017/18*7 (3,291*) 7,624** 

Total  44,337 

 
30. Overall the table shows that there has been a general decline in usage over the 

four and a half year period. 
Service cost 

 
31. CBP 113 operates under a ‘minimum cost’ contract in which the operator 

effectively agrees to hire out his vehicle and driver for an agreed sum to 
operate the specified service, with all income being passed to the Council. 
Table 8 outlines the cost of CBP service 113, as well as the revenue it makes 
and the subsidy per passenger journey between 2014/15 and 2017/18. 

 
32. The gross cost of the service has only increased slightly since the CBP was 

formed. There has been a marginal increase in revenue over the CBP period, 
and a very slight decrease in net costs. The decreasing patronage and fairly 
static net cost has meant that the subsidy per journey has increased, which is 
also very high in comparison to other bus services supported by the County 
Council. 

                                                           
*Part year- patronage for April to August (5 month period) 
** Estimated annual patronage 

90



APPENDIX E 
 

 

Table 8: Cost of service 

Cost of 

Service 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Gross  £68,556 £133,151 £133,151 £133,817 

Farebox 

Revenue 
- £9,802 £9,738 £10,025 

Concessionary 

Revenue 
- £3,985 £4,680 £5,297 

Net 68,556 £119,364 £118,733 £118,495 

Passenger 

Journeys 
9,018 8,000 8,642 7,624 

Subsidy per 

journey 
£7.60 £14.92 £13.74 £15.54 

 
CBP Principles 

 
33. The achievement ratings for the nine CBP principles are shown in Table 9 

below. The majority of CBP principles received a medium or high rating for 
achievement, suggesting that there has been a degree of success in achieving 
the principles of a successful CBP. 
 

Table 9: Level of achievement of CBP principles 

Service Rating Comment 

Specific branded service  The service has been branded. 

Partnership   

Dedicated bus company 
representative 

 
Regular attendance of CBP 

meetings. 

Incremental development  
The group has not met for some 

time. 

Community involvement  A good sized community group. 

91



APPENDIX E 
 

 

Service Rating Comment 

High customer service standards  Medium level of achievement 

Creative and inventive 
involvement 

 

The bus operator representative 

has helped to create a new 

brand and service timetables. 

Raised profile of service  

The new branding and 

timetables have raised the 

profile of the service. 

Professional Officer support  

LCC has attended and given 

information and attended launch 

event. 

= High level of achievement, = Medium level of achievement and = 

Low level of achievement 

Views of partnership members 
 
34. The views of the three partnership members in relation to the future of the CBP 

are outlined below. 
 

Community representatives 
 

35. Three members of the community group who have been involved in the 113 
CBP provided their views on the CBP. Two respondents expressed a desire for 
the Council to continue supporting the service. One did not feel that the service 
could continue without Council support and felt that basing a judgement on 
whether or not the service should be retained purely on the ‘bottom line’ was 
not appropriate. 

 
36. One representative of the community group expected the service to be reduced 

or cut and perhaps replaced by some form of DRT. They felt that the 
partnership could have a role in promoting DRT but did not want to take on this 
role themselves. 

 
Bus operator 

 
37. The operator reported that the 113 Community Bus Partnership has not been 

very successful in engaging the wider community. Despite several attempts to 
engage with local parish councils, existing bus users and local businesses 
support for the partnership has not yet been achieved. 

 
38. They advised that as a commercial operator they would be unable to resource 

further Community Bus Partnerships, although they said that they have internal 

92



APPENDIX E 
 

 

processes in place to involve the local community and seek their feedback in 
the decision making process. 

 
Leicestershire County Council officer comments 

 
39. Officers reported that it would be difficult to continue to support the service in its 

current form given the very high subsidy cost per passenger journey. Despite 
the efforts of the CBP to engage with communities along the route it has been 
difficult to engage with them effectively. However, it may be difficult to meet 
current levels of demand in a cost-effective way through alternative means 
such as Demand Responsive Transport, particularly given that some journeys 
regularly carry over twenty passengers. They suggested that there may be 
some merit in focussing the service on Melton Mowbray only, dropping the 
Oakham section of the route, and providing a more uniform timetable. There is 
some potential for integrating the service with local school/college movements 
which may help to reduce the current subsidy for the service. 

 
Review of Service 129 
 

Service patronage 
 
40. Patronage for Service 129 between 2013/14 and 2017/18 is displayed in Table 

10. Patronage fell in 2014/15, the year before the service became a CBP, and 
has risen in each subsequent year - by 17.5% in 2015/16 and a further 14.4% 
in 2016/17. 

 
41. Looking at the six month period of 2017/18 for which patronage data is 

available, there have been a total of 16,872 journeys. The yearly patronage has 
been estimated at 35,272 based on total operator days as well as school 
operator days, which implies a continued increase since 2013/14. 

 

Table 10: Passenger journeys 

Year 

Passenger journeys 

Total 

2013/14 28,251  

2014/15 25,293  

2015/16 29,714  

93



APPENDIX E 
 

 

Year Passenger journeys 

2016/17 33,997  

2017/18*8 (16,872*) 35,272**  

Total 152,527  

 
42. Overall the table indicates a steady increase in usage over the four and a half 

year period of operation of the 129 service. 
 
Service cost 
 

43. Table 11 details the gross and net costs, as well as the subsidy per passenger 
journey of service 129 for each year between 2013/14 and 2017/18. The gross 
cost of the service has increased since the CBP was formed in 2015/16 from 
£122,018 to £123,858. However, as costs have been increasing the revenue for 
the service has also increased significantly since the service became a CBP. In 
2016/17 revenue was 42% (£14,507) higher than in 2014/15. This increase in 
revenue corresponds with a reduction in the subsidy in the two years since the 
CBP was formed. The subsidy per passenger journey is the lowest of all of the 
CBP’s in operation. 

 
Table 11: Service costError! Reference source not found.  

 

                                                           
*Part year- patronage for April to September (6 month period) 
** Estimated annual patronage 

Cost of 
Service 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Gross  £101,179 £101,179 £122,018 £123,242 £123,858 

Farebox 

Revenue 
£18,638 £24,161 £33,227 £33,887 £38,380 

Concessionary 

Revenue 
£11,423 £10,567 £11,816 £15,348 £14,924 

Net £71,118 £66,451 £76,975 £74,007 £70,554 

Passenger 

Journeys 
28,251 25,293 29,714 33,997 35,272 

Subsidy per 

journey 
£2.52 £2.63 £2.59 £2.18 £2.00 

94



APPENDIX E 
 

 

 
 
CBP principles 

 
44. The achievement ratings for the nine CBP principles are provided in Table 11 

below. The majority of CBP principles received a medium or high achievement 
rating indicating that the partnership has had a degree of success in achieving 
the principles of a successful CBP. 

Table 11: Level of achievement of CBP principles 

Service Rating Comment 

Specific branded service  No branding work 

undertaken 

Partnership   

Dedicated bus company 
representative 

 Attended when required 

Incremental development  There is a core community 

group and a user group 

meeting on a monthly 

basis. 

Community involvement  There is a core community 

group and a user group 

meeting on a monthly 

basis. Both groups are 

small but consistent. 

High customer service standards  Medium level of 

achievement 

Creative and inventive 
involvement 

 Ideas have not always 

been developed due to lack 

of decision making and 

irregular attendance of 

some members. 

Raised profile of service  Took on dropped 

commercial route so more 

people got to know about 

the bus – not the same as 

raised profile really 

95



APPENDIX E 
 

 

Service Rating Comment 

Professional Officer support  Continuity issues due to 

staff changes 

= High level of achievement, = Medium level of achievement and = 

Low level of achievement 

Views of partnership members 
 
45. The views of the three partnership members on the future of the CBP are 

outlined below. 

Community representative 

46. Two members of the community group who have been involved in the 129 CBP 
provided their views on the CBP as part of the two year review. One 
respondent reported that they viewed the CBP as a long term project and that 
there should be a policy to link other bus services. Another respondent advised 
that there is no direct alternative to the CBP service and that the community 
group have discussed and dismissed alternative solutions and would like to 
expand the existing service. 

 
Bus operator 

 
47. The operator reported that they would consider running the CBP service in the 

future but only on a contract basis. 
 

Leicestershire County Council officer comments 
 

48. Officers advised that this bus service carries a significant number of 
passengers and that a proportion of these passengers are students travelling 
to/from college with no alternative public transport service or Council provision 
available to them. 

 
49. It was reported that a conventional bus service is the most cost effective way of 

providing a public transport service to the villages that are served by this bus 
service. It would be difficult to reduce the cost of running the service without 
impacting on the service. If the service was replaced with Demand Responsive 
Transport it is likely that it would cost more money given the number of 
passengers using the service and the fact that it carries passengers across the 
whole of its timetable. 

 
Travel Behaviour Surveys  

 
50. Travel behaviour surveys on all four CBP’s were undertaken during November 

2017. The survey aimed to understand user type, frequency and journey 
purpose.  
 

96



APPENDIX E 
 

 

51. There was a common theme across all four CBP’s with them being used 
predominantly by people over 60 years of age, using their bus pass for 
shopping purposes.  

 

97



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX F 

1 of 3 

Leicestershire bus passenger survey - 2017 

 

 

Survey introduction 

Hello, my name is [surveyor name] and I am working on behalf of Leicestershire County 
Council carrying out a short survey of bus users.  The aim of the survey is to find out about 
the travel behaviour of the county’s bus users.  The survey consists of 11 questions and will 
take approximately two to three minutes to complete.  The responses that you provide will be 
passed back to the Council for further analysis, this includes your postcode.  All information 
will be kept strictly confidential and you will not be personally identified.  
 

Firstly can I just check, are you over the age of 16? 

Yes (1)  Continue 
No (2)  Close - I’m sorry but we are unable to interview people under 16 years of age. 

Thank you for your time. 

 
May I start by asking you a few question about yourself?  You are under no obligation to 
provide the information requested, but it would help us greatly if you did as Leicestershire 
County Council is committed to ensuring that its services, policies and practices are free 
from discrimination and prejudice and that they meet the needs of all sections of the 
community. 

 
1. We are mapping where service users come from to use the bus service to help understand 

the catchments areas in Leicestershire, please can I take your full home postcode for this 
purpose? [Surveyor to use showcard (SC) 1 so respondent can indicate postcode 
(Leicestershire only).  Surveyor to record place name for those outside Leicestershire.] 
 

A B C D Other, please state location 

     

 

2. How would you describe your gender? [use SC 2] 

Female Male Other Prefer not to say 
 

3. Which of the following age groups are you in? [use SC 3] 

a) 16-19 years 

b) 20-29 years 

c) 30-39 years 

d) 40-49 years 

e) 50-59 years 

f) 60-69 years 

g) 70-79 years 

h) 80+ years 

i) Prefer not to say 

 

4. Which of these best describes your employment status? [Use SC 4] 

a) Working full time (over 30 hrs a week) 

b) Working part time (under 30 hrs a week) 

c) Retired 

d) Student 

 

 e) Unemployed 

f) Looking after home/family 

g) Prefer not to say  

h) Other (please state) 

Surveyor reference      

Bus service no.  Route  Time  

 

99



APPENDIX F 

2 of 3 

5. Do you consider yourself to have a long standing illness, disability or infirmity? [use SC 5] 

a) Yes b) No c) Prefer not to say  
 

6a. Did you use a bus pass to make your journey today? 

a) Yes b) No 

6b. If you did use a bus pass to make your journey, what type of bus pass did you use? 

a) Older person's bus pass 

b) Disabled person's bus pass 

c) Operator bus pass 

 
 

7. What is the main purpose of your journey today? [select one only] 

a) Travelling to/from work 

b) To/from shopping 

c) Visiting friends/relatives 

d) To/from school/college/training 

e) Leisure 

f) Healthcare Appointment 

g) Employer Business 

h) Personal Business 

i) Other (please state) 

8. If you were unable to make this journey by bus what would you do? [select one only] 

a) Drive 

b) Get a lift with a friend/relative 

c) Take the train 

d) Cycle 

e) Walk 

f) Other (please state) 

 

9. Please could you tell me the postcodes of the starting point and ending point (i.e. final 

destination) of your journey today (Leicestershire postcodes only)? [SC 1.  Surveyor to 

record place names for those locations outside Leicestershire in relevant fields] 

Journey origin Leicestershire: Journey destination Leicestershire: 

A B C D A B C D 

        

Origin other:  Destination other: 

 

10. How frequently do you use this particular bus service? 

a) 5 or more days a week 

b) 3-4 days a week 

c) 2 days a week 

d) 1 day a week 

e) Once a fortnight 

f) Once a month 

g) Less often 

h) First journey on this service 

 

 

  

100



APPENDIX F 

3 of 3 

11. How will you travel onwards when you get off this bus? [select one only] 

a) Walk 

b) Another bus 

c) Car 

d) Train 

e) Other (please state) 

 

End of survey 

That was the final question of the survey.  I’d like to thank you for taking the time to speak to 

me today.  Enjoy the rest of your journey.  

If you have any questions about the survey please contact the Leicestershire County Council 

Customer Service Centre on 0116 3050002. 

If you have any questions about market research generally then please call the Market 

Research Society freephone on 0500 39 69 99. 

 

101



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2017 and 7 December 2017.
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	8 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 to 2021/22.
	Appendix A - Revenue Budget 2018-19
	Appendix B - Growth
	Appendix C - Savings
	Appendix D - Capital Programme 2018-22

	9 Community Bus Partnership Review.
	Appendix A - Existing Bus Policy
	Appendix B - Service Specific Recommendations Scrutiny 2014
	Appendix C - Scrutiny Review Panel Service Deliberations - 2013
	Appendix D - Community Bus Partnership Review - 2 Year Report
	Appendix E - Community Bus Partnership Review Outcomes
	Appendix F - Travel Behaviour Survey


